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IMPORTANT FACTORS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Various “forward-looking statements” have been made in this Form 10-K, including information incorporated
herein by reference within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange-Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements may also be included in Tickets.com, Inc.’s other
reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in its press releases and in other documents. In addition,
Jrom time to time, Tickets.com, Inc., through its management, may make oral forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are only expectations, and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties,
which may cause actual results in future periods and other future events to differ materially from what is currently
anticipated. These forward looking statements generally refer to future plans and performance, and are identified by
the words “project,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “optimistic,” “intend,” “aim,” “will” or the negative
thereof and similar expressions. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements, which speak only to expectations as of the date on which they are made. Certain statements in this Form
10-K, including those relating to Tickets.com, Inc.’s expected results, its anticipated cash requirements and sources,
integration of previous acquisitions and consolidating of software code lines, are forward-looking statements. Such
statements involve risks and uncertainties, which may cause results to differ materially from those set forth in these
statements. Factors that may cause actual results in future periods to differ from current expectations include,
among other things, the continued availability of sufficient working capital, the availability of adequate sources of
capital, and the successful integration of previous acquisitions and consolidation of software code lines. These and
other factors identified in this Form 10-K, including but not limited to the risk factors discussed herein and in
Tickets.com, Inc.’s previously filed public documents, could affect the forward-looking statements contained herein
and therein. Tickets.com, Inc. undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements
or explain the reasons why actual results may differ.

The risks and uncertainties under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” contained herein, among other things, should be considered in evaluating Tickets.com,
Inc.’s prospects and future financial performance.

PARTI
Item 1. Business

Overview

ELINTY LI TS

Unless the context indicates otherwise, when we refer to “Tickets.com,” “we,” “us”, “our” or the “Company” in
this Form 10-K, we are referring to Tickets.com, Inc. and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

We are a leading business-to-business ticketing solutions provider. As an infrastructure enabler and a systems
and services provider, we facilitate the sale of tickets for venues and entertainment organizations with proprietary
and cutting edge software, through an integrated distribution network that includes the Internet, call centers,
interactive voice response systems and retail outlets. We build private label ticketing gateways to enable live
entertainment organizations with an e-commerce distribution platform. Our automated ticketing solution is used by
thousands of venue and entertainment organizations such as leading performing arts centers, professional sports
organizations and various stadiums and arenas in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Australia, Latin America and Asia. We
recently completed serving as the official ticket supplier to the 2002 Olympic Winter Games and we are currently
the ‘official online ticketing solutions provider for MLB Advanced Media, LP, the interactive media subsidiary of
Major League Baseball. Gur clients range from performing arts centers such as Carnegie Hall, The John F. Kennedy
Center for the Performing Arts, The Lincoln Center for Performing Arts, London Philharmonic Orchestra and the
Royal Albert Hall, to athletic teams such as the San Francisco Giants, the Chicago Cubs, the Oakland Raiders and
the Cincinnati Reds. We also provide ticketing solutions and services to large arenas such as the Greensboro
Coliseum, Myriad Convention Center, the Marine Midland Arena, and the Oakland Coliseum, as well as live
entertainment and special interest venues such as the 9:30 Club and Las Vegas Motor Speedway. Additionally, we
sell tickets directly to consumers via our web site (www.tickets.com), which also provides information on virtually
all events and entertainment organizations.




Unlike many other ticket sellers, our automated ticketing solutions offer the benefits of both outsourcing services
and in-house systems to venue and entertainment organizations. The flexible, open structure of our outsourcing
services contrasts with the closed, proprietary systems of other ticket sellers that generally require the use of their
full services as a condition to participating in their distribution network. As an outsourcing service, we offer a wide
range of ticketing services, including ticketing inventory control, patron data management, and ticket sales through
our online and traditional distribution network. As an in-house systems provider, we offer a variety of specially
tailored, in-house systems, from general admission systems for amusement parks to highly sophisticated, muiti-
module systems for the world’s leading performing arts centers and arenas. All of our in-house system products are
scalable meaning that they may be adaptable for both low and high volume transactions in addition to users with
simple to complex ticketing needs. By using the Internet, advanced data communications technology and
standardized open interfaces that connect our sales and distribution network to our in-house systems, we also offer
entertainment organizations real-time Internet ticketing capabilities through their own private label web site or our
web site.

Tickets.com, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in January 1995 as The Entertainment Express, Inc. We
commenced business operations in May 1996. In December 1996 we changed our name to Advantix, Inc., and in
May 1999 we changed our name to Tickets.com, Inc.

Business Segments

At the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2000, we redirected the business strategy to focus on our core ticketing
business. This strategy entailed taking advantage of the efficiencies of the Internet while emphasizing the
relationship with our clients rather than directly with consumers. The plan reflected a shift from the internet portal
strategy to one which targeted consumers through our venue customers by leveraging their brands rather than that of
Tickets.com. The business segment information for 1999 has been reclassified to reflect this change in strategy.

Our operations are organized into four reportable operating segments: Ticketing Services Group, Internet
Ticketing Group, International Group and Other. Financial information about each segment for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 are included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data”.

The following table sets forth our revenue from our different operating segments;

Year Ended December 31
2001 2060 1999
(Dollars in Thousands)
Ticketing Services Group .....cccceeeeneee $ 31,483 56.1% $ 32,724 55.8% $ 27,290 59.4%
Internet Ticketing Group ......c.coeeeeeene 18,133 32.3% 17,308 29.5% 11,164 24.3%
International Group ........cccovevevreerennnene 5,218 9.3% 6,340 10.8% 4617 10.1%
Other. ..o 1,297 2.3% 2,208 3.9% 2.846 6.2%

$56,131 _1000% $ 58,670 100.0% $45917 _100.0%

Ticketing Services Group

Through our Ticketing Services Group (“TSG”), we offer integrated ticket sales and distribution capabilities on
an outsourced basis designed to meet the needs of a variety of entertainment organizations, from the general
admission needs of fairs and parks to the highly sophisticated, high-capacity reserved seating needs of large
performing arts centers, stadiums and arenas. Entertainment organizations that produce high-demand marquee
events, such as large concert promoters, often require the broad sales and distribution capabilities that we provide.
Some entertainment organizations rely on our infrastructure and products as their in-house systems and purchase and
maintain their own computer and communications equipment. These organizations typically rely on us to store
certain necessary data on our computer equipment and to provide them with access to that information through
terminals at their box offices.

We primarily generate our revenue from service fees charged directly to consumers who purchase tickets
through the Internet, call centers, interactive voice response systems and retail outlets. In addition, we charge a per
order handling fee to consumers for tickets that are purchased through a distribution channel other than our retail




outlets. The sale of tickets for an event often commences several months prior to the scheduled date of the event.
TSG revenues relating to these sales are recognized when the tickets are sold. The amount of the service fees we
charge varies from client to client, depending upon a number of factors, including the nature of the services to be
rendered, the equipment to be installed, the amount of advertising and promotional allowances provided, the type of
event and the distribution channels used. The service fee for each client is determined by us and our clients through
arms-length negotiations during the contract process. The contract terms are usually on a long-term basis.

Cost of services associated with TSG revenue generally relate to the distribution and delivery of tickets. These
expenses include call centers, distribution payroll, telecommunications, data communications, and commissions paid
on tickets distributed through our retail outlets.

Internet Ticketing Group

Many of our software licensees, such as performing arts centers, prefer to manage their ticket sales in-house
through software products licensed by our Internet Ticketing Group (“ITG”). This service offered to our software
licensees allows our clients to control the level of service offered to, and gather relevant information about, their
customers. These entertainment organizations can use consumer information to address their often-complex season
and subscription ticketing needs and develop marketing programs to target audiences for specific events. For these
types of organizations, a single ticket purchaser has the potential to be upgraded to a season ticket holder, a
subscription holder or ultimately a fund raising patron. Without the data-capture features and functionalities that our
software offers, this would be difficult to achieve. Under these arrangements, our clients license our in-house
systems and purchase maintenance and other support services. Qur maintenance and support contracts have terms
ranging from one to five years and typically have automatic one-year renewals. Although we have fewer than 2,000
clients, many of these individual clients have multiple venues and organizations within their structure.

Through the ITG, installed database, we have the ability to enable our software licensees to sell tickets over the
Internet through our proprietary ticketing network. Our technology allows our licensees to utilize our ticketing
systems to sell their tickets over the Internet, either on their own private label web site or through our Tickets.com
branded website. In these instances, we generate revenues on a per ticket basis, in addition to licensing and recurring
support revenues. :

Cost of services associated with ITG revenue primarily includes costs related to the installation and support of
our in-house systems, mainly consisting of payroll and travel, and related costs of hardware and software that is
resold to licensees.

International Group

Cur International Group is responsible for all activities outside the US and Canada, with offices in the UK,
Australia, Netherlands and Germany. In addition, we have joint venture operations in Greece, Hong Kong and India,
and distribution partnerships in Italy, Malaysia, New Zealand and Singapore. Our software is in use by over 1,000
organizations in over 20 countries around the world outside the US, and is available in seven different languages.
We provide multi-lingual support from our local offices, enabling our venue based clients to control their ticketing,
marketing and CRM operations, in order to increase revenues, audiences and customer loyalty. The systems offered
by the International Group are Internet enabled, with ‘private label’ solutions delivering ticket sales from venues’
own web sites. We drive city and country wide networks around the globe, enabling sales from hundreds of outlets
to all connected venues.

We generate revenues through license fees, annual support fees, per ticket fees for network and internet traffic
and through management fees. Our maintenance and support contracts have periods ranging from one to fifteen
years, and typically contain one-year automatic renewals.

Cost of services associated with the International Group revenue primarily includes costs related to the
installation and support of our in-house systems, mainly consisting of payroll and travel, and related costs of
hardware and software that is resold to licensees.




Transaction Application Gateway

In addition to our family of in-house systems, our proprietary ticketing technologies include our system-to-
system interface, Transaction Application Gateway (“TAG”). TAG is a specialized software system that connects a
variety of clients’ ticketing systems to our system and our database through standard interfaces. We have developed
TAG to achieve the standardization and scalability needed to simultaneously sell tickets for multiple entertainment
organizations, independent of the ticketing system used by those organizations. TAG is capable of facilitating
interaction between various automated ticketing solutions on one end, and various sales and distribution points on
the other end. We intend to enhance TAG to create a distributed network capable of selling and printing tickets at
any connected location, for any entertainment organization that uses our software as a transactional middleware.

Our system-to-system interface is designed to store and maintain current event and ticket availability information
from a variety of individual ticketing servers. Transaction records are centrally stored on TAG and are written to the
specific automated ticketing solution’s database to update inventory availability. In addition, our system-to-system
interface can store and transmit to the corresponding ticketing server consumer information that can later be used for
analysis and development of targeted marketing efforts by entertainment organizations. The open nature of the
architecture of TAG also makes it possible to develop interfaces with a variety of sales and distribution channels,
such as web sites, kiosks, interactive voice response applications, automated teller machines and WebTV.

Interactive Voice Response (“IVR”) Sales Channel

We made significant enhancements to our IVR sales channel in 2001 and early 2002. The enhancements involve
a platform shift from a legacy Conversant IVR system to an industry-leading Edify IVR platform. In addition to
providing real-time seat locations and credit card processing, the integration of text to speech and voice recognition
technology allow a fully automated ticket purchase with less intensive set-up work to allow events to be available
for sale. The enhanced IVR services will allow the consumer to “speak and spell” name and address information,
which is parsed and automatically transcribed to the database with no human intervention. Additionally, IVR allows
us to use the enhanced technology of the Internet with the familiar and comfortable distribution channe! similar to
our call distribution center. To further increase consumer ease, we have subscription access to a national database
that allows consumers to simply enter their unique 10-digit telephone number for name and address retrieval. In
approximately 80% of these connections, our ticket database will be populated by the correct geographic
information with no need to use the voice recognition aspect of the system. The upgraded I'VR system will introduce
the “shopping cart” concept, which allows the consumer to purchase more than one event per single phone call. We
believe these enhancements will allow us to absorb high demands during critical onsale peak loads without
increased payroll costs from having live agents processing ticket orders.

PASS3 for Windows®

In June 2001, we introduced PASS3 for Windows®. PASS3 is a new version of our patron-based software that
enables a wide range of our clients and entertainment organizations to manage their ticketing inventory, ticketing
operations and patron information. PASS3 builds on our PASS product, a software system that is used by over 500
venues across the United States and internationally. PASS3 expands our original PASS software capabilities and
simplifies its use with Windows® that replaces our previous DOS-based functions. PASS3 adds innovative new
features that can provide an Internet connection and real-time ticket sales through our other ticketing software
products.

Competition

The market for automated ticketing solutions is intensely competitive, and we expect competition to increase in
the future. We believe that the principal competitive factors that we must address include:

o greater recognition of some of our competitors’ brand;

o longer operating histories of some of our competitors;

= the size of ticket inventories maintained by our competitors; and




o greater financial and other resources available to our competitors.

Our specific concerns include the following:

> an inability to gain access to our competitors’ existing clients who may currently have lengthy contracts;
 satisfy our current clients’ needs in order to retain such clients; and

o difficulties associated with gaining national recognition, as well as penetrating specific regional clients.

Although we believe that we compete favorably with respect to these factors, we expect we will be continually
challenged by current competitors who may have significantly greater financial, marketing, customer service,
distribution, technical and other competitive resources, as well as by new entrants into the industry. Qur principal
competitors include one large national provider of outsourcing services, smaller regional providers of outsourcing
services, venue and entertainment organizations that operate and maintain in-house ticketing systems, software
companies that license in-house systems and a variety of Internet competitors.

We primarily compete with one national provider of online and offline automated ticketing solutions,
Ticketmaster Corporation, which has operations in multiple locations throughout the United States and Europe.
Ticketmaster Corporation has a widely recognized brand name in the live event ticketing business, a longer
operating history in the ticketing industry generally, and has greater financial and other resources than we do. We
seek to distinguish ourselves from our competitors in the following ways, among others:

o Controlling the event experience — Industry trends favor private event labeling. The venues and promoters
want to control the consumer experience and capture all the related benefits. Through our state-of-the-art
technology and private label solutions, we offer a multiple range of innovative operating solutions for our
clients to drive ticket inventory.

o Breadth of product offerings — We offer both ends of the ticketing spectrum from software licensing to full
outsourcing solutions. With our multiple products, we can meet the specific needs of our clients by
customizing our software to a particular requirement.

o Flexibility and customization — We offer a suite of software products designed to service all types and size
of clients. Additionally, we present our clients with the ability to customize the solution to meet their specific
requiremernts.

o Drive business to the internet — Increasingly consumers are finding the internet to be a preferable
distribution channel to purchase tickets to events. In addition, venues are seeing the benefits of the internet in
terms of distribution costs and data capture. Our products and infrastructure continue to take full advantage
of these trends. :

o [International expansion — We believe that the ticketing industries in many international regions, including
Europe and Asia, are fragmented and underserved, and entertainment organizations are generally not bound
by exclusive long-term contracts. By combining our software presence with a strong brand and distribution
capability overseas, we can rapidly develop the international marketplace.

Further, we believe we can distinguish ourselves through the versatility and functionality of our ticketing
systems, as well as our ability to capture and manage data regarding ticketing transactions and consumer purchasing
habits.

On a regional level, we compete with smaller providers of outsourcing services that may have longer operating
histories, greater name recognition and a broader established client base in the geographic areas in which they
operate. We believe, however, that many regional providers of outsourcing services are at a competitive
disadvantage because they have not developed their own ticketing software applications, have geographically
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restricted license arrangements with in-house systems providers, and, in some instances, are controlled by a major
entertainment organization which may prevent them from contracting with that organization’s competitors.

We also face competition from independent companies that license in-house systems to regional providers of
outsourcing ticketing services and individual entertainment organizations. These companies may develop more
effective in-house systems than we provide and could render our products obsolete.

On the Internet, we compete with online ticketing companies, as well as online providers of entertainment
information whose services overlap with ours. Because barriers to enter the Internet are relatively low, we may face
competition from companies in other areas of e-commerce that can launch new web sites using commercially
available software. These potential Internet competitors may have competitive advantages including strong brand
recognition and an established presence on the Internet. Strategic relationships with other Internet portals may allow
potential as well as existing competitors to expand their operations.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

We regard our proprietary technology and other intellectual property as critical to our success. We rely on
United States and foreign trademark, unfair competition, common law, trade secret and copyright laws to protect our
technology and our brands. We also rely on confidentiality and/or license and other agreements with employees,
customers and others to protect our proprietary rights. We have one important patent pending before the United
States Patent and Trademark Office. Despite our efforts to control access to our proprietary information, it may be
possible for a third party to copy, infringe or otherwise obtain and use our services, products, technologies or other
intellectual property without authorization.

We own the following U.S. service mark and trademark registrations: Advantix®, BASS Tickets®, PASS®,
Prologue®, Protix®, Select Ticketing® and Ticketslive®. We have pending registrations with the US Patent and
Trademark Office for Tickets.com™, and 1its logo design, Ticketing Gateway™, Tickets@Home™,
1.800.TICKETS™, Virtual Wristband™ and Infoanywhere™, among others. We also have final and pending
registrations for the service mark Tickets.com® and its logo in many foreign countries.

We have licensed in the past,.and expect to license in the future, various proprietary rights, such as trademarks,
service marks and copyrighted material, to third parties. While we attempt to ensure that our licensees maintain the
quality of our brands, we cannot be certain that our licensees will not take actions that may materially adversely
affect the value of our proprietary rights or reputation.

Although we believe we have valid proprietary rights to all of our intellectual property, the possibility exists that
other parties will assert infringement claims or claims related to our software, services or business practices. We
could be subject to claims of alleged infringement as a result of our actions or the actions of our licensees. We could
also be subject to claims of alleged trademark infringement by parties whose trademarks are similar to ours.

Any litigation over intellectual property rights or business practices raises the possibility of substantial damages.
Such litigation may also result in injunctive or other equitable relief that could block our ability to market or license
our services and products in the United States or elsewhere. We could also lose the rights to technologies necessary
to operate portions of our business. Moreover, sustained intellectual property litigation is costly and could adversely
affect our operating results.

Litigation may be necessary in the future to, among other things:

a. Enforce our intellectual property rights;

b. Protect our trade secrets;

c. Determine the validity and scope of our proprietary rights and that of others; or

d. Defend against claims of infringement or invalidity.




Any litigation, regardless of the outcome, could result in substantial costs and diversion of managerial resources.

&6 s

We currently hold the Internet domain names “tickets.com,” “protix.com,” “bass-tix.com,” “1800tickets.com’
“basstickets.com,” “fantastix.com” and others. In general, the acquisition and maintenance of domain names is
regulated by the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (“ICANN") and governmental laws and
their designees.

Government Regulation
Ticket Sales

Many states and municipalities have adopted statutes regulating the sale of tickets within their jurisdictions and
requiring that ticket sellers obtain a license. We believe that we are not required to qualify to do business, as a ticket
seller, in any state other than California, which does not require a license. One or more states or municipalities,
however, could take the position that a telephonic or electronic ticket sale to one of their residents is a sufficient
basis for application of that jurisdiction’s reseller statute.

Government agencies or authorities also could argue that other state or local licensing or “ticket scalping”
statutes apply to our activities. Some state and local regulations establish maximum service and handling fees on
tickets for sporting and other entertainment events, which are subject to these regulations.

Internet Commerce

We are subject to regulations applicable to businesses generally and laws or regulations directly applicable to
Internet commerce. Currently, we believe there are few laws and regulations directly applicable to the Internet and
e-commerce services; however, it appears likely that this area will be increasingly regulated in the future. These
laws-may impose additional burdens on companies conducting business online and may decrease the growth of the
Internet or e-commerce services.

In addition, it is unclear whether some existing laws governing issues such as property ownership, sales and
other taxes, libel and personal privacy are applicable to the Internet and e-commerce services. For example, tax
authorities in a number of states are currently reviewing the appropriate tax treatment of companies engaged in e-
commerce. New state tax regulations may subject us to additional state sales and income taxes. These and other
similar issues may take years to resolve.

Consumer Protection and Related Laws

Many of our services may be subject to federal and state consumer protection laws and regulations prohibiting
unfair and deceptive trade practices. Although there are very few laws and regulations directly applicable to the
protection of consumers in an online environment, it is possible that legislation will be enacted in this area. New
legislation could cover such topics as permissible online content and user privacy, including the collection, use,
transmission and retention of personal information provided by online users. The growth and demand for online
commerce may also result in more stringent consumer protection laws that impose additional compliance burdens
and costs on businesses that engage in e-commerce.

For additional information and risks concerning possible future laws and regulations governing consumer rights
and our use of information about Internet users, see Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results Of Operations — Forward Looking Information Regarding Revenue Growth and Execution
of Our Business Plan — We May Become Subject To More Restrictive E-Commerce Regulation That Could
Adversely Affect Cur Ability To Increase Internet Sales and — We May Be Affected By Changes In Laws And
Standards Relating To Data Collection And Use Practices And The Privacy Of Internet Users”.

Employees

As of March 15, 2002, we had a total of 878 employees including 467 full-time and 411 part-time employees.
The vast majority of our part-time employees serve as operators at our three call centers. None of our employees are




represented by a labor union. We have not experienced any work stoppages and believe our relationship with our
employees to be good.

Seasonality

Our operations and revenues from ticketing services are largely seasonal in nature, with second and third quarter
revenues generally being higher than first and fourth quarter revenues. Several of our largest clients.are outdoor
venues or promoters of musical concerts, which schedule a significant number of events during the summer months
and typically do not generate substantial activities in the late fall, winter and early spring. Therefore, the seasonality
of our business causes a significant variation in our quarterly operating results. To the extent we do not broaden our
revenue base to offset seasonality, we expect that this seasonality will continue to cause significant variations in our
future quarterly operating results. :

Item 2. Properties

Our principal administrative offices total approximately 20,000 square feet and are located in Costa Mesa,
California under a lease that expires on September 2005. As part of a restructuring plan in 2000, we consolidated our
facilities and reduced the amount of space that we leased for this facility by approximately 20,000 square feet at the
beginning of the second quarter of 2001. Cur call distribution center in Concord, California is housed in an
approximately 25,000 square-foot facility under a lease that expires in March 2007. Cur call distribution center in
Fairfax, Virginia is housed in an approximately 11,000 square-foot facility under an operating lease that expires in
November 2005. Under our restructuring plan, we have consolidated a majority of our call distribution operations in
Cleveland, Ohio, to our Fairfax, Virginia operations, reducing our facility needs in Cleveland, Ohio from
approximately 13,000 square feet to 5,000 square feet. The Cleveland, Ohio lease expires May 2005. We also
maintain other regional offices for technical development, sales and support services.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current needs and that suitable additional space
will be available in the future, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms. We do not own any real estate.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Ticketmaster Litigation. On July 23, 1999, Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Online-CitySearch filed a
lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Central District of California, case number 99-
07654WDK, seeking unspecified damages and a court order to prohibit us from, among other things, linking Internet
consumers to internal pages within Ticketmaster’s web site and using the Ticketmaster name on our web site. In
addition, the suit alleges that we engaged in other wrongful acts, such as providing false and misleading information
on our web site regarding the availability of tickets and related information on the Ticketmaster web site and taking
copyrighted information from the Ticketmaster web site for use on our web site. The suit originally sought (i) an
injunction to prohibit us from further engaging in any alleged unlawful activity, (ii) treble damages, (iii) attorneys’
fees and other unspecified damages. On September 15, 1999 we filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit. A hearing on
the motion to dismiss had been scheduled for January 2000. On January 7, 2000, Ticketmaster Corporation and
Ticketmaster Cnline-CitySearch filed a First Amended Complaint, which modified their previous allegations and
added two claims for unfair competition and alleged violations of the Lanham Act.

We filed a motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint and on March 27, 2000, the Court dismissed four of the
six claims in the Amended Complaint. Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Online-CitySearch also filed a
Motion for Preliminary Injunction seeking an order precluding us from, among other things, providing links to
Ticketmaster pages. Cn August 10, 2000, the Court denied this motion.

In May 2000, we filed a counterclaim against Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Online-CitySearch
alleging that they have engaged in certain acts and practices that are an unlawful restraint of trade, unlawful
monopolization and attempted monopolization in violation of Federal and State antitrust laws and violation of State
unfair competition law and interference with economic advantage. Our claim seeks treble damages, punitive
damages and declaratory and injunctive relief. Ticketmaster and Ticketmaster Online have filed a motion to dismiss
our counterclaim and on September 25, 2000 the Court denied this motion.




On February 27, 2002 the United States District Court, Central District of California, Western Division issued an
order revising the framework within which to complete discovery and trial preparation. Based on the order,
September 1, 2002 was established as the date for the completion of discovery and the trial dates was set for
February 3, 2003. Discovery, including interrogatories, document production and depositions are ongoing as of this
date.

In June of 2001, we entered into a contingent fee agreement with our counsel providing that should we prevail in
the litigation, our counsel may receive fifty percent of any recovery in exchange for a deferral of continuing legal
fees.

William Branch, et. al., vs. Tickets.com, Inc., et. al. On July 10, 2001, we and certain of our current and former
directors and officers were named in a class action pending in the federal district court in the Southern District of
New York, case number 01CV-6008. We have also been named in six other, similar cases also pending in the
federal district court in the Southern District of New York. The complaints allege that our underwriters engaged in
unlawful stock allocation and commission practices concerning our initial public offering, including alleged tie-in
arrangements with their customers. The complaints also allege that the prospectus and registration statement in our
initial public offering contained materially false and misleading statements related to underwriting fees,
commissions and other economic benefits arising from the alleged underwriter activities. The complaints allege
causes of action under Sections 11, 12(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as well as Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Similar cases have been filed against a number of other
companies and their underwriters. There has been limited activity in these cases to date.

R4 Holdings, LLC, Hill International, Inc., vs. Tickets.com, Inc., et al. On November 7, 2001, We and certain of
our officers, directors and investors, were served with a complaint seeking damages in an unspecified amount. The
complaint generally alleges that plaintiffs, R4 Holdings, LLC (“R4”) and Hill International, Inc. (“Hill”"), both under
the direction and control of Irvin Richter, are founding shareholders of Tickets.com. The complaint further alleged
that pursuant to their investment in us, the plaintiffs were parties to a stockholder agreement {and an amended and
restated investors’ rights agreement with us, which entitled R4 to appoint two members to our board of directors.
Pursuant to these agreements, R4 appointed Irvin Richter to our board. The complaint also stated that in
contemplation of our planned initial public offering, and by virtue of the investors’ rights agreement, R4 and Hill
executed lock-up agreements wherein they agreed to refrain from trading shares of our common stock for a period of
one hundred and eighty (180) days following the date of the initial public offering. Subsequent to the execution of
the lock-up agreement, the complaint alleged that the board declined R4’s nominee for its additional member to our
board of directors, and ultimately caused Irvin Richter to be removed from the board prior to the initial public
offering. The plaintiffs alleged that as a result of their loss of seats on the board, they were no longer bound by the
terms of the lock-up agreement and further, that we fraudulently induced the plaintiffs into executing the lock up
agreement. The complaint alleged that the members of our board conspired against the plaintiffs by: (i) inducing
them to execute the lock-up agreement, (ii) causing Mr. Richter’s removal from the board, (iii) preventing the
plaintiffs nominee to be appointed as a member of our board of directors, and (iv) from preventing the plaintiffs
from being able to trade their shares of stock in Tickets.com at the time of the initial public offering.

On March 22, 2002 the court granted our motion to dismiss this case on the basis of lack of personal jurisdiction
against the individual defendants and forum non-conveniens, a jurisdiction doctrine applicable to us. As the case was
not dismissed on its merits, it is possible that the plaintiffs will either appeal the decision or file this action in a more
appropriate jurisdiction and continue to pursue their claim.

NAP Venture Partners LLC ; PromoWest Productions, Inc., vs. Tickets.com, Inc. On September 17, 2001 we
were served with a complaint brought by NAP Venture Partners LLC and PromoWest Productions, Inc. The suit
seeks damages in an unspecified amount and asserts various causes of action including: breach of written contract,
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violation of the Unfair Competition Act and Business
and Professions Code, Section 17200 et seq. This case arises out of a prior agreement between us and the plaintiff
providing for, among other things, us to make an investment in the plaintiff, which was engaged in the development
and construction of a new venue complex in Chio, and a Ticketing Services Agreement providing for us to provide
ticketing services to the venue once completed. All investments to be made by us were tied to certain construction
milestones, to ensure that progress of the development was continuing. Following our first scheduled payment of




funds, plaintiff returned all sums previously paid by us and sought to cancel the agreement, to which the we refused.
This suit followed seeking, among other things, cancellation of the agreement.

Ktem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

The holders of 17,500,000 shares of our Series F Preferred Stock, pursuant to an Action by Written Consent
dated November 19, 2001, elected Thomas Heymann to serve on our Board of Directors for a term ending in 2002,
or until his successor is duly elected and qualified. The same holders, pursuant to a Consent and Waiver, dated
December 17, 2001, consented to the issuance of stock options under our 2001 Stock Option Plan and waived any
adjustments to the conversion price of our Series F Preferred Stock which could otherwise result therefrom.

PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters
Market Information
Cur common stock is traded on Tﬁe Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “TIXX.” The following table sets

forth the range of high and low intra-day sales prices reported on The Nasdaq National Market for our common
stock for the periods indicated, as restated to reflect a one-for-eight reverse stock split effected on July 23, 2001.

High Low

Fiscal 2001

FOUITH QUATTET ... vocerececveeerseesesssssseseseersscssessnssnssasesens $§ 3.08 § 150

THIrd QUATTET....eivcvrecerereeereesseae e essetesss e sssaeseessnssesnaes $ 360 % 1.50

SecONd QUAITET...cvveeeereierireriniereereereresnsrsiensesesesssssneeses § 417 § 224

FILSE QUATTET cvvveveurreesiserenserensrensesesserensonisennessaserassesassnens $ 6758 225
Fiscal 2000

Fourth QUATtEr.......cocvveerieiererecaseeericneeessnsssrsse e sesarsrens $ 1224 $ 1.04

THIrd QUAITET...ceeureerrereriresierireseninanierenersssssesssssoraressarnaren $ 3048 § 7.52

SeCONA QUATTET . .vovviririreieierecereereasessesssecesenarenessansasaseans $ 75.04 $ 18.00

FIISE QUATTET covvcirenineriertreeesestsrseesesevseesseenssnessnesssssaresone $ 152.00 $ 55.04

On March 15, 2002, the closing sales price per share of our common stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National
Market was $3.25. On March 15, 2002, there were approximately 226 holders of record of our Common Stock.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock since inception and do not expect to pay
any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the
expansion of our business. In addition, the terms of our preferred stock restrict our ability to pay a dividend to the
holders of our common stock and entitle the holders of our preferred stock to cumulative dividends of nine percent
per year, compounding quarterly, which we may elect to pay in cash or shares of our common stock. See Recent
Sales of Unregistered Securities below for a more detailed discussion of the terms of such dividends.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On June 23, 2001, we sold 10,833,333 shares of our Series F Senior Cumulative Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock (the “Series F Preferred Stock™) for $0.60 per share. The aggregate purchase price was $6.5 million.
On August 1, 2001, we sold an additional 17,500,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock for $0.60 per share. The
aggregate purchase price was $10.5 million. The purchasers of the Series F Preferred Stock were General Atlantic
Partners 74, L.P., GAP Coinvestment Partners II, L.P., and GapStar, LLC, International Capital Partners, Inc., Profit
Sharing Trust, Sports Capital Partners, LP, Sports Capital Partners, Cayman Islands, L.P., Sports Capital Partners
CEV, LLC, Ardara, Inc. and Zesiger Capital Group, LLC, as an agent for certain other purchasers. We sold the
Series F Preferred Stock in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Rule 506 of the Securities Act
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of 1933, as amended. We relied upon the Rule 506 exemption because of the nature of the purchasers and the fact
that the sale was an arms’ length negotiated transaction.

The Series F Preferred Stock ranks senior to our Common Stock. If we pay dividends on our Common Stock
then the holders of the Series FF Preferred Stock will receive the same dividends as if their shares of Series F
Preferred Stock were converted into Common Stock. In addition, we will pay cumulative dividends on the Series F
Preferred Stock at the rate of nine percent per year of the Series F Accreted Value (as defined below), less any cash
dividends paid to the holders of the Series F Preferred Stock because of a dividend paid on the Common Stock as
described in the second sentence of this paragraph. The cumulative dividends accrue and compound quarterly
whether or not declared by our Board of Directors. “Series F Accreted Value” means $0.60 plus the amount of any
accrued dividends. ‘

Each share of Series F Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holders of the Series F Preferred Stock
into shares of Common Stock at a conversion ratio equal to the Series F Accreted Value divided by $0.60, subject to
antidilution adjustments as described below (the “Series F Conversion Price”). Initially, each share of Series F
Preferred Stock was convertible into one share of Common Stock. However, as a result of the one-for-eight reverse
stock split we effected July 23, 2001, each eight shares of Series F Preferred Stock became convertible into one
share of Common Stock.

We have the right (subject to the vote of the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock as described below) to
redeem the Series F Preferred Stock as follows:

(1) If on any date after June 23, 2003, but prior to June 23, 2004, the average trading price of our Common
Stock (as reported on Nasdaq or some other major stock exchange on which our stock then trades) for the ninety
consecutive trading days immediately prior to the date in question (the “Average Trading Price™), is equal to or
greater than 200% of the Series F Conversion Price, we will have the right to redeem in cash all, but not less than
all, of the outstanding shares of the Series F Preferred Stock at a price per share (the “Redemption Price”) equal
to the greater of (a) the Series F Accreted Value on such date or (b) the average trading price of our Common
Stock for the twenty consecutive trading days immediately prior to the redemption date multiplied by the number
of shares of our Common Stock into which the Series F Preferred Stock is then convertible.

(2) If on or after June 23, 2004, but prior to June 23, 2005, the Average Trading Price is equal to or greater
than 250% of the Series F Conversion Price, we have the right to redeem in cash all outstanding shares of the
Series F Preferred Stock at the Redemption Price.

(3) If on or after June 23, 2005, but prior to June 23, 2006, the Average Trading Price is equal to or greater
than 300% of the Series F Conversion Price, we have the right to redeem in cash all outstanding shares of Series
F Preferred Stock at the Redemption Price.

On June 23, 2006, each then outstanding share of Series F Preferred Stock will automatically convert into the
right to receive a cash payment equal to the Redemption Price.

Any holder of the Series F Preferred Stock may convert its shares of Series F Preferred Stock until we have paid
the Redemption Price.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, each holder of Series F Preferred Stock will be entitled
to be paid for each share of Series F Preferred Stock an amount equal to the Series F Accreted Value (the “Series F
Participation Payment™) and will receive the number of shares of our Common Stock to which such share of Series F
Preferred Stock is convertible at such time.

In the event of a merger or consolidation of us or a sale of our voting stock or our assets, each holder of Series F
Preferred Stock will be paid for each share of Series F Preferred Stock an amount equal to the Series F Participation
Payment and the Series F Preferred Stock will automatically convert into the number of shares of our Common
Stock to which such share of Series F Preferred Stock is convertible at such time.
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The holders of the Series F Preferred Stock have the right to vote, on an as converted basis, on all matters that
require a vote of the Common Stock. In addition, as long as at least fifty percent of the Series F Preferred Stock
remains outstanding, the following actions require the approval of the holders of a majority of then outstanding
Series F Preferred Stock: (i) any modification or amendment to the our Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws that
would affect the rights, preferences, powers and privileges of the Series F Preferred Stock; (ii) the issuance or
authorization of any additional capital stock or options to acquire shares of capital stock or any increase or decrease
in the authorized number of shares of Series F Preferred Stock; (iii) the redemption for cash of any capital stock that
is junior or equal to the Series F Preferred Stock; (iv) the declaration or payment of any dividends or other
distributions on any capital stock that is junior or equal to the Series F Preferred Stock; (v) a liquidation or any sale
or merger; (vi) any action resulting in a deemed dividend under section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code; (vii) the
assumption or issuance of debt in excess of $3.0 million; (viii) capital expenditures in excess of $1.5 million
individually or $4.0 million in the aggregate during any twelve-month period, or $1.0 million not included in the
annual operating budget; (ix) any material change in our accounting methods or policies; and (x) any change in the
number of directors constituting the Board of Directors. As long as General Atlantic Partners 74, L.P., GAP
Coinvestment Partners II, L.P., and GapStar, LLC or any of their affiliates own at least a majority of the outstanding
shares of Series F Preferred Stock, the holders of the Series F Preferred Stock have the right to elect three directors
of our Board of Directors.

The holders of the Series F Preferred Stock are entitled to customary antidilution rights including, adjustments
for stock splits, stock dividends and other structural changes. In addition, if we issue Common Stock (or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock) at a price per share (“New Issue Price”) less than the Series F
Conversion Price then in effect, the Series F Conversion Price will be adjusted to equal the New Issue Price.
Accordingly, because we sold the Series G Preferred Stock as described below at a price per share less than the
Series F Conversion Price in effect at such time, the Series F Conversion Price has been accordingly adjusted to
equal the New Issue Price. As of March 25, 2002, following the issuance of the Series G Preferred Stock, each 3.9
shares of Series F Preferred Stock became convertible into one share of our Common Stock.

At the time of the sale of the Series F Preferred Stock, we and the purchasers entered into a registration rights
agreement which gave the purchasers one demand registration right for an underwritten offering and customary
“piggy-back” and “shelf” registration rights in both primary and secondary offerings. In connection with the sale of
the Series G Preferred Stock we expect that we and the purchasers of the Series F Preferred Stock will enter into the
new registration rights agreement as described below.

On March 25, 2002, we sold 8,474,576 shares of our Series G Senior Cumulative Redeemable Convertible
Participating Preferred Stock (the “Series G Preferred Stock™). We also sold warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase
1,800,000 shares of our Common Stock, at an exercise price of $2.36 per share. We received an aggregate purchase
price of $20.0 million for the sale of the Series G Preferred Stock and the Warrants. The purchasers of the Series G
Preferred Stock were General Atlantic Partners 74, L.P., GAP Coinvestment Partners II, L.P., and GapStar, LLC. On
March 18, 2002, we filed a Form 8-K describing the transaction and the terms of the Series G Preferred Stock. We
sold the Series G Preferred Stock and the Warrants in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Rule
506 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We relied upon the Rule 506 exemption because of the nature of the
purchasers and the fact that the sale was an arms’ length negotiated transaction.

The Warrants are exercisable at any time by delivery to us of a duly executed exercise form and payment of the
exercise price.

The Series G Preferred Stock ranks senior to our Common Stock and the Series F Preferred Stock. If we pay
dividends on our Common Stock then the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock will receive such dividends as if
their shares of Series G Preferred Stock were converted into Common Stock. In addition, we will pay cumulative
dividends on the Series G Preferred Stock at a rate of nine percent per year of the Series G Accreted Value (as
defined below), minus any cash dividends paid to the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock because of a dividend
paid on the Common Stock as described in the second sentence of this paragraph. The cumulative dividends will
accrue and compound and quarterly whether or not declared by our Board of Directors. “Series G Accreted Value”
means $2.36 plus the amount of any accrued and unpaid dividends.

12




Each share of Series G Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock
into shares of Common Stock at a conversion ratio equal to the Series G Accreted Value divided by $2.36, subject to
antidilution adjustments as described below (the “Series G Conversion Price”). In addition, if the holders of the
Series G Preferred Stock convert the Series G Preferred Stock after March 25, 2004, such holders will receive an
additional amount equal to the Series G Liquidation Payment (as defined below) for each shares of Series G
Preferred Stock converted, payable at the election of a majority of the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock in
either cash or shares of Common Stock. This additional amount is payable only with respect to a maximum of
2,824,858 shares if converted prior to March 25, 2005 and a maximum of 5,649,717 shares if converted prior to
March 25, 2006.

On March 25, 2007, we will automatically redeem all of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock in cash, at a
redemption price per share equal to the greater of the Series G Liquidation Payment (as defined below) calculated on
such date or the average trading price of one share of our Common Stock on each of the twenty consecutive trading
days ending on and including the trading day prior to such date. In connection with the issuance of the issuance of
the Series G Preferred Stock, we requested and received a waiver from Nasdaq of the stockholder approval
requirements of Nasdaq Marketplace Risks 4350 and 4351.

In the event of a merger or consolidation of us or a sale of our voting stock or our assets or our liquidation,
dissolution or winding up, each holder of Series G Preferred Stock will be entitled to the following: (i) to be paid for
each share of Series G Preferred Stock an amount equal to the Participation Factor (as hereinafter defined) times the
Series G Accreted Value at the time of such event (such product, the “Series G Liquidation Payment”), and (ii) to
receive the number of shares of our Common Stock to which such share of Series G Preferred Stock is convertible
upon the closing of such event. “Participation Factor” means two, but will be reduced to one in the case of a merger
or sale if the Participation Reduction Amount (as hereinafter defined) is greater than two times the Series G
Conversion Price. “Participation Reduction Amount” means a fraction, (A) the numerator of which is the aggregate
consideration paid to the holders of our capital stock in such sale or merger minus the aggregate Series G Accreted
Value on the closing date of such sale or merger minus the amount of the Series F Participation Payment and (B) the
denominator of which is the aggregate number of outstanding shares of Common Stock assuming the conversion of
the Series G Preferred Stock, the Series F Preferred Stock and all other securities convertible into shares of Common
Stock immediately prior to the closing date of such sale or merger.

The holders of the Series G Preferred Stock have the right to vote, on an as converted basis, on all matters that
require a vote of the Common Stock. In addition, the following actions require the approval of the holders of a
majority of the outstanding Series G Preferred Stock: (i) any modification or amendment to our Certificate of
Incorporation or Bylaws that would affect the rights, preferences, powers and privileges of the Series G Preferred
Stock; (ii) the issuance or authorization of any additional capital stock or options to acquire shares of capital stock;
(iii) the redemption for cash of any capital stock that is junior or equal to the Series G Preferred Stock; (iv) the
declaration or payment of any dividends or other distributions on any capital stock that is junior or equal to the
Series G Preferred Stock; (v) a liquidation or any sale or merger; (vi) any action resulting in a deemed dividend
under section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code; (vii) the assumption or issuance of debt in excess of $3.0 million;
(viii) capital expenditures in excess of $1.5 million individually or $4.0 million in the aggregate during any twelve-
month period, or $1.0 million not included in the annual operating budget; (ix) any material change in our
accounting methods or policies; and (x) any change in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors.
As long as General Atlantic Partners 74, L.P., GAP Coinvestment Partners II, L.P., and GapStar, LLC and/or any of
their affiliates own at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Series G Preferred Stock, the holders of Series G
Preferred Holders have the right to elect two directors of our Board of Directors.

The holders of the Series G Preferred Stock are entitled to customary antidilution rights including, adjustments
for stock splits, stock dividends and other structural changes. In addition, if we issue Common Stock (or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock) at a price per share (“New Issue Price™) less than the Series G
Conversion Price then in effect, the Series G Conversion Price shall be adjusted to equal the New Issue Price.

Under the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, General Atlantic Partners 74, L.P.,, GAP
Coinvestment Partners II, L.P., and GapStar, LLC have two demand registration rights for an underwritten offering,
and the Series F Preferred Stock purchasers will have customary “piggy-back” registration rights in both primary
and secondary offerings (i.e., a right to participate in registrations initiated by us or other of our stockholders).
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Tickets.com, Inc.

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes as well as “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits
of Operations” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statements of operations data presented for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997, and the consolidated balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 and the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The selected
consolidated financial data for Tickets.com, Inc. and its subsidiaries includes the historical financial data for Bay
Area Seating Service, Inc., ProTix, Inc., California Tickets.com, Inc., TicketsLive Corporation, dataCulwre, Litd.,
and Lasergate Systems, Inc. from the date each was acquired. Please be advised that historical results are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future.

Bay Area Seating Service, Inc. (Predecessor to Tickets.com, Inc.)

The selected financial data for Bay Area Seating Service, Inc., which we acquired on September 26, 1997, are
also included. Under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Bay Area Seating
Service is deemed to be a predecessor of Tickets.com. The statement of operations data presented for the year ended
March 31, 1997 and the selected balance sheet data as of March 31, 1997 are derived from Bay Area Seating
Service’s audited financial statements, which were audited by Burr, Pilger & Mayer, Inc., Bay Area Seating
Service’s independent public accountants. The statement of operations data for the period from April 1, 1997 to
September 26, 1997, the date we acquired Bay Area Seating Service, are derived from the audited financial
statements for that period and were audited by Arthur Andersen LLP, our independent public accountants.
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Tickets.com, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2008 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consclidated Statement of Operations Data:

REVENUE ...oetreeivenrrieiives e sescerasee st ses s sursraasessnsosenssessnsssssesessan $ 56,131 $ 58,670 $ 45917 $ 29,540 $ 11,647
COSE OF SEIVICES ...uvvvmrreersresrnsesenssessessesssssssnstesssssessessesassaesssssesans 32,136 37,651 30,100 18,706 8,413
Gross PrOfil .oveccrvererieeccrivenreseserirersreonnnns oottt sae st rens 23,995 21,019 15,817 10,834 3,234
OPEratiNg EXPEINSES ..cevrerererterirneermesirieerormsesosseessenseseeseostasssaresesseens 80912 128,903 78,419 43.668 8,223
Loss from operations.... (56,917) (107,884)  (62,602) (32,834 (4,989)
Other income (expense)(a) 577 2,155 (915) (2.027) _ (1,110
Net loss before extraordinary item ........ccoueeererveenuieivrsrenssnreesenne » (56,340)  (105,729) (63,517) (34,861) " (6,099)
Extraordinary item (D) .....cviceevereeirecirrnieesciienresessesesesessssensseesnnns — — (3,083 — —
NELIOSS reereveereeeeseesssssreesserersermnene .............................................. (56,340)  (105,729) (66,600) (34,86]) (6,099)
Preferred dividends ...o..coveeeeiieevereiie et cnn e rese e (705) — — — —
Accretion of preferred stock iSSUNCE COSS ...ccevvivriereevrvenrecereerunes (137) — — — —
Net loss available to common shareholders $.(105.729) $(66,600) $(34,861) § (6.099)
Basic and diluted net loss per share before extraordinary item ....... $ (7700 § (1443) $§ (27.05 $ (48.62) $ (9.38)
Basic and diluted net loss per share from extraordinary item ......... — — (1.31) o —
Basic and diluted net 10ss per share ........ccconeinnicrineniaienniine $_ (7.70) $_ (14.43) 3§ (28.36) $_(48.62) § (9.38)
Weighted average common shares outstanding .........cocovevievvennanne 7,426 7,327 2,348 717 650

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

TOLAL ASSELS veneevrivererierrireierreerriree s sresee et reseesneseesenscesessassessesneassan $ 84,417 $ 131,416 $235780 $ 38,512 $ 47922
Working capital (deficit) 3,698 24,976 92,318 8,179)  (1,538)
Total long-term debt(d)......cocvvvererermrceririecimnerstereese et 249 1,406 2,117 20,232 23,493
Redeemable common stock and WAITANTS ...eveicveeviivirienseneeeeneeeains — — —_— 4,506 3,599
Total stockholders’ equity (defiCit)(C) ..ovvveeriercireeevernenrersesinsnnens 44,854 102,019 201,077 (11,929) 2,186

(a) Other income (expenses) include principally interest expense, net of interest income, and to a lesser degree,
minority interest and provision for income taxes.

(b) The extraordinary item reflects the non-cash interest expense recorded related to the write-off of unamortized
note discount in connection with the early retirement of approximately $14.1 million in long-term debt.

(c) Subsequent to December 31, 2001, we issued 8,474,576 shares of our Series G Senior Cumulative Redeemable
Participating Preferred Stock and Warrants to purchase 1,800,000 shares of our Common Stock for an aggregate
purchase price of $20.0 million. See Item 5 — Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and Related
Stockholder Matters — Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

(d) Amounts classified as long-term debt consist of long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of current
portion.

15




— Bay Area Seating Service, Inc. (Predecessor)

April 1, 1997 To Year Ended
September 26, 1997 March 31, 1397
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

REVEIUES «evuvereeervereesonesstssseessseosesesesssssensesssonsansssssessnesssesssasssssssssoessstesssesssesnne $ 10,858 $ 20,561
COSt OF SETVICES ..vecveririnrrerrreereenseennssctssenestenssesssssrnesasannesnsesssssssarssessnsesssasreesnns 4.203 7.866
GIOSS PrOfili.reuriverreresersiereseesrererirererssieeessasts e ssssssasssseesessnsransiessnenassnsronenstssenss 6,655 12,695
General and adminiStrative EXPENSES .....eovvecrrerrerrrarirrrriemsrereraresressaesseersresseessres 6,301 12,212
Income from OPETations ........cccicvimiiriivrciniin st e 354 483
Cther income (€XPENSe), NEL (&) ...erervereevierererrrrerireesrenstsrereeseeeeneestererassnorenns 261 356
Provision fOr INCOME tAXES c.eevvuereiueirrrrenrrereseaerrneseseeerneesrinesssresssessosserssrersssnees 211 (278)
INEL INCOIME c.eueeeviieviiereeereerieresesetenseeseessbesssessrensessesssnensassnessns sreesasaesssesnansssonses $ 404 $ 561
As of
March 31, 1897
. (In Thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data;:
TTOUA] ASSEIS 11vuvrrrirerrieriesrerrieeiesrisseseteseseesasessesseostesasesssesssosneeistessssonssosseosssosssessesssesansnsisssensesnsssssosas $ 14,443
WOTKING CAPILAL ...verreieecreriieseietrce e sresvtee e ertnst et esna e besbassreessbenstessressanessessssessosserssensesssenssassensens 749
Total 1ong-1erm debt (D) covvveiiiiiriiier ittt re s s srre st e e et snesre s sraneses e ssaessestesasesanenare 1
REtaINEd BAITUIEZS .o.veueeiiiieieiiiti ettt see et eeste s b e e e sttt e s be s be st s e r e naaste e estentennarens 2,407 -
Total Shareholders’ EQUILY ....cooivieiiiiii et st sessas b ses b saneans 3,355

(a) Other income (expense), net includes principally interest net of interest expense and other miscellaneous income
and expenses.

{b) Amounts classified as long-term debt consist of long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of current
portion.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following table sets forth actual operating results for the 2001, 2000, and 1999 periods as a percentage of
revenue:

Year Ended December 31,

‘ 2001 2000 1999
Revenue.......oeeeine e eteree et e r et barae et s rRe s et eab e st e ae st r s e et s ene s e r e b a e et ntsraeesaneas 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
COSE OFf SEIVICES <euvvrvvereurrneriraunresiaisesisrenassesssenuesasesaunssussnninssesssesssesassnsiesssessasossses 57.3% 64.2% 65.6%
GTOSS PIOfIte.rereiiereereieieeeriererr et s et et esa st et be e e b e smnenns 42.7% 35.8% 34.4%
Operating expenses:
Sales and MArKetiNG.....cvvveeververerierresnreesieeeiseecorernesseesssresaeesaasseessarssesensassreeens 34.4% 67.2% 75.6%
Technology development .......ccceciniiiniiiiincicicen e 18.5% 23.7% 27.3%
General and admMiNISITALIVE ....co.eevieriiiecert et n 47.0% 52.3% 40.4%
Amortization of INtangibles.......ccocevviiviiiii 17.0% 16.7% 15.8%
ReStructuring Charge......ccceveviniiciiivcenciii ettt (4.8)% 59.9% —
IMpairment Of SSELS....c.vvirereierereeetirrr ittt 32.0% — —
Purchased in-process research and development .......cccoccevnvininininicecincnnnnn, — — 11.6%
Total OPErating EXPEeNSES ...ovcoriiiiriiiiistinriiieseseitvecis e es e beesaeesrsesnressns 144.1% 219.7% 170.8%
L0SS fTOM OPETAtIONS ...vvvveveevireneeriteceeeriere et ssa e sne e e (101.4)% (183.9% (136.3)%
Other income (expense):
OHhET EXPEINSE c.vereveemrerrrernrirresresieeserensrsecseesaeessessrasseessaesseessessnsesssensessesssnnsaseesns (0.5)% (1.2)% 6.9)%
Oher INCOIMIE ..couveeireieteiree et reeetrte et sar e se s e s st s e et e e se s b e sseeasesananmnens 1.3% 5.1% 4.8%
IMINOTIEY INEEIEST .. eeutrrsverrererersrcrrtrereeeartesssenseasreratessressaessnesseesssessessnsensesesnesrarens 0.4% — (0.3)%
Total other INCOME (EXPENSE), NEL .eovveevireieeiniiiiite et sarens 1.2% 3.9% (1L.9%
Loss before provision for income taxes and extraordinary item........ccccceeveeveennne (100.2)% (180.0)% (138.3)%
Provision fOr INCOME TAXES .ivuiiiiiiiciiiereeecernireeseeeesse s stesesresernesssesssssessrssnseses (0.2Y% 0.2)% —
Net loss before extraordinary ite€IM ....ecveereeeierrvereerieereeneereeesnenseesresssesseeesseessves (100.4)% (180.2)% (138.3)%
Extraordinary item — loss on early retirement of debt ......ccooviivinciiiiiiinnn — — 6.1)%
INEE 1088 ureeruieiiireiitiererere st r et e st e s er e s be e sbe s e staesesesessbesssnsesnbesebteassntaesteeness (100.4)% (180.2)% (145.0)%
Preferred dividends.......occveriecircreiieirrecesie e et sre e ssaesre e ese e enes (1.3)% — —
ACCTetion Of ISSUANICE COSLS ..evvervmvereerreiarierearesttemsierenesresrsesrasseesneensenseeasasonesess {0.2)% — —
Net loss available to common StoCKROIers......cveeviirereeiiiiereies et (101.9% (180.H% (145.0)%

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to such financial statements included elsewhere in this
Form 10-K. The following discussion contains various forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. The statements are based on current expectations and actual results could differ materially from those
discussed herein. Factors that could cause or contribute to the differences are discussed in this section of this Form
10-K.

Overview

We are a leading business-to-business ticketing solutions provider. As an infrastructure enabler and a systems
and services provider, we facilitate the sale of tickets for venues and entertainment organizations with proprietary
and cutting edge software, through an integrated distribution network that includes the Internet, call centers,
interactive voice response systems and retail outlets. We build private label ticketing gateways to enable live
entertainment organizations with an e- commerce distribution platform. Our automated ticketing solution is used by
thousands of entertainment organizations such as leading performing arts centers, professional sports organizations
and various stadiums and arenas in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Australia, Latin America and Asia.

Acquisition History

We were incorporated in Delaware in January 1995 as The Entertainment Express, Inc. Cur operations
commenced in May 1996 with the acquisition of the assets of Hill Arts and Entertainment Systems, Inc., which
included a proprietary in-house system used by a wide variety of entertainment organizations. In December 1996,
we acquired the call center and outsourcing services operations of the Advantix division of Playhouse Square
Foundation, an Ohio-based performing arts center and outsourcing services provider, at which time we changed our
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name to Advantix, Inc., and in May 1999, we changed our name to Tickets.com, Inc. We have grown principally
through acquisitions of regional outsourcing services providers and of in-house systems providers.

1999 Acquisitions

TicketStop. Inc. In March 1999, California Tickets.com purchased all of the outstanding common stock of
TicketStop, Inc. The purchase was for cash consideration equaling approximately $2.3 million, consisting of an
initial cash payment of $2.2 million. Additional consideration, in the form of a contingent cash payment of up to
approximately $0.4 million, was subject to TicketStop attaining a targeted number of active clients. In September
1999, California Tickets.com entered into an amendment with the shareholders of TicketStop whereby the parties
agreed to remove the contingency behind the remaining cash payment, which resulted in an additional cash payment
of approximately $0.4 million and an equal amount of additional goodwill. The operating results of TicketStop have
been included in our consolidated financial statements from the date we acquired California Tickets.com.

California Tickets.com, Inc. In April 1999, we completed the acquisition of California Tickets.com, and in May
1999 we changed the name of our company to Tickets.com, Inc. The aggregate purchase price was $41.5 million.
The acquisition of California Tickets.com added some of our most significant brand assets, including our web site
address (www.tickets.com) as well as our 1-800-TICKETS telephone number. The operating results of California
Tickets.com have been included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition.

TicketsLive Corporation. In April 1999, we completed the purchase of all the outstanding capital stock of
TicketsLive Corporation. The aggregate purchase price was $26.0 million. The acquisition of TicketsLive added a
suite of in-house systems and software products licensed in the United States, Europe and Australia, to our existing
family of in-house systems. In addition, we acquired our system-to-system interface, the Transaction Application
Gateway, which facilitates our ability to sell tickets on our web site from a variety of sources. The operating results
of TicketsLive Corporation have been included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of the
acquisition.

dataCulrure, Ltd. In August 1999, we purchased all of the outstanding capital stock of dataCulture, Ltd. The
acquisition of dataCulture added another product to our family of in-house systems, an expanded presence in the
United Kingdom, and client relationships with several well-known entertainment organizations in the United
Kingdom. The aggregate purchase price was Pound Sterling 4.0 million, or the equivalent of approximately $6.5
million at August 23, 1999. The operating results of dataCulture have been included in our consolidated financial
statements from the date of the acquisition.

Lasergate Systems, Inc. In December 1999, we completed the acquisition of Lasergate Systems, Inc. The
acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition of Lasergate added a suite of products to our family of
in-house systems, we additionally entered into a stock purchase agreement with RBB Bank AG, the majority
shareholder of Lasergate, to purchase all of the outstanding shares of Lasergate stock held by RBB. The aggregate
purchase price was $4.8 miliion consisting of $2.3 million in promissory notes, $1.7 million in Tickets.com common
stock and $0.8 million in cash. The notes were incorporated as an element of the purchase price upon the close of the
acquisition. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years. The operating
results of Lasergate have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

2000 Acquisition

CarrsTix. In June 2000, we completed the acquisition of CarrsTix from a subsidiary of Safeway, Inc. The
aggregate purchase price was $1.1 million. This agreement allows us to provide service in Alaska and future access
to Safeway stores in Washington, Montana and Idaho. The acquisition of CarrsTix added new client relationships
including Alaska’s top venues, which are Alaska Center for Performing Arts, the 8,700-seat Sullivan Arena/Egan
Center, the 6,500-seat Carlson Center and the University of Alaska, Anchorage. The operating results of CarrsTix
have been included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2600

Revenues

Ticketing Services Group. Revenues from TSG decreased 3.7% to $31.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2001 from $32.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This decrease was primarily due to the
reduction in ticket sales volume from the postponement and cancellation of events following September 11, 2001
and the markedly lower attendance at those limited number of events that did take place, as well as the
discontinuance of performer charity ticket auctions in May 2000. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in
ticket sales volume earlier in the year associated with the increased number of high profile performances by groups
such as Madonna, Backstreet Boys, Destiny’s Child, U2, Nsync, and the Dave Mathews Band, and the addition of
three more full service Major League Baseball (“MLB”) clients. We expect TSG revenue to improve in 2002 as our
number of clients increase and the effects of September 11 diminish.

Internet Ticketing Group. Revenues from ITG increased 4.6% to $18.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $17.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increased revenue was primarily the result of
our contract with Major League Baseball Advanced Media, LP (“MLBAM?”) regarding Internet ticketing for MLB
teams. Under the terms of that contract, we added 12 teams to our client portfolio during 2001. This increase in the
number of teams for which we provide Internet ticketing services resulted in a higher volume of tickets sold. These _
increases were partially offset by a decrease in revenue of our third-party hardware sales, consulting fees, licence
fees and our contract with the Salt Lake Olympic Committee (*SLOC”).

Included in ITG’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $1.9 million relating to the SLCC contract
compared to $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, of which $0.9 million in 2001 and $1.3 million in
2000 related to the non-cash, barter portion of the SLOC agreement. The barter portion of the relationship relates to
the marketing benefits that the Tickets.com brand receives with consumers due to our affiliation with the Olympic
Games. The contract revenue is being recognized under the percentage of completion method.

Internarional. International revenues decreased 17.5% to $5.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001
from $6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The decrease reflects a drop in software license fee
revenue and third party hardware sales revenue. Software license fee revenue has decreased largely due to the
change in market conditions in the United Kingdom, resulting from the reduction in Government funding for
cultural events, as well as increased competition in the International marketplace. The decrease in hardware sales is
directly related to the decrease in software license fee revenue.

_ Other. Other revenues decreased 43.5% to $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $2.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2000. Other revenues primarily relate to our marketing relationships with various
vendors as well as advertising sales form our website. The decrease in other revenues from the prior year primarily
relates to our change in strategy during 2000 to focus more on the client side of the business rather than our previous
Internet portal strategy.

Cost of Services

Ticketing Services Group. Cost of services for TSG decreased 18.1% to $21.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $25.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. As a percentage of TSG revenues,
total cost of services for TSG decreased to 67.3% from 79.2%. The decrease was mainly attributable to successful
implementation of cost reduction plans to contain our telecommunication and call center expenses; offset partially
by the discontinuance of charity ticket auctions in May 2000 and our guarantee of ticket sales for the Wango Tango
event in 2000. We have completed several initiatives, inciuding the renegotiation of our telecommunications
contract, consolidation of our credit card processing relationships and the completion of several call center
enhancements that we expect to yield a positive impact on our gross margin. We believe that our infrastructure can
be leveraged to take advantage of greater ticket volumes with minimal additional expenditure.
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Internet Ticketing Group. Cost of services for ITG increased 2.4% to $8.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2001 from $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was related to the growth in our
license and support business, including services for SLCC. As a percentage of ITG revenue, cost of services
decreased to 46.5% from 47.2%. This was primarily due to an increased efficiency in scheduling and executing
system installations. In addition, a higher proportion of ITG revenues were generated from high margin on-line
ticket sales resulting in improved gross margin for the ITG segment.

International. Cost of services for International decreased 20.0% to $2.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2001 from $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. As a percentage of International revenue, cost of
services decreased to 45.6% from 47.5%. This decrease is a result of our efforts to streamline our operations and
cost cutting efforts.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased 51.0% to $19.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $39.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. As a percentage of total revenues,
sales and marketing expenses decreased to 34.4% from 67.2%. This decrease is attributable to a number of factors.
As a result of our $13.9 million write-off of our prepaid marketing relationship with Excite@Home in 2001, sales
and marketing expenses no longer reflects the amortization for this prepaid marketing asset, which resulted in $5.2
million of the decrease. Additionally, a number of significant changes took place within our marketing organization
beginning in 2000 and continuing into 2001 including a significant headcount reduction, decreased use of outside
professional services and the termination of our relationship with an advertising agency. These changes were driven
by our greater focus on leveraging our client’s brands thereby resulting in a significant reduction in spending to
promote our own brand. We believe that, while there continue to be opportunities to reduce our sales and marketing
expenses, the reduction in 2002, if any, will be significantly less in than that in 2001.

Technology Development. Technology development expenses decreased 25.2% to $10.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001 from $13.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. As a percentage of total
revenues, technology development expenses decreased to 18.5% from 23.7%. This decrease was primarily the result
of our reducing the number of software code-lines which we actively support. In early 2000, we actively sold up to 9
code-lines around the world. Following our restructure in 2000, we focused our efforts on three code-lines
domestically and one additional code-line internationally. This consolidation allowed us to significantly reduce head
count, as well as reducing our reliance on outside professional services.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased 14.0% to $26.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001 from $30.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. As a percentage of total
revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased to 47.1% from 52.3% in the prior year. This decrease relates
primarily to our continuing focus on rationalizing of our cost structure and eliminating redundancies. Throughout
2001, we continued to reduce headcount and facilities. In addition, we entered into a contingency fee agreement
with our counsel in the Ticketmaster litigation resulting in a decrease in legal fees associated with that litigation of
approximately $0.9 million. This decrease was partially offset by a charge of $0.4 million for fees incurred from the
termination of a proposed financing arrangement.

Restructuring Charge. A restructuring charge of $35.1 million was recorded for the three months ended June 30,
2000 as a result of our board of directors approving a restructuring plan to be executed over a 15-month period. The
plan redirected our business strategy, requiring a focus on our core ticketing business. This focus entailed taking
advantage of the efficiencies of the Internet and targeting consumers through our venue customers by leveraging
their brands rather than that of Tickets.com. This was partially accomplished through an emphasis on the clients’
website ahead of our own. This strategy was an exit from our original Internet ticketing portal strategy. The portal
strategy relied on high cost branding efforts to drive high volume traffic to our www.tickets.com website which
would in turn support other Internet related revenues such as web advertising, travel and merchandise sales. In
addition, our software operations focused on consolidating the software code lines. Achieving our goals required an
integration of all previous acquisitions, a reduction in workforce and a consolidation of offices including telephone
sales centers. The total cost of the restructuring was $32.4 million, which resulted in an over accrual of restructuring
costs of $2.5 million related to the consolidation of facilities and $0.2 million related to involuntary termination
benefits. The total over accrual of $2.7 million was reversed in the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

20




Impairment of Assets. In the first quarter of 2001, we recorded a charge of $18.0 million for the impairment of
various assets. This charge consisted primarily of the write-down of investments that are no longer core to our
business. We had determined the online marketing asset with Excite@Home would not be fully realized and was
partially written down by $13.9 million. Additionally, we wrote-off our strategic investment in two Internet based
companies, Encryptix and Campus Pipeline, of $1.5 million. This resulted in a decrease of current assets of $7.5
million and other long-term assets of $7.9 million. In the third quarter of 2001, Excite@Home filed for bankruptcy
and we recorded an additional charge of $2.5 million for the impairment of our remaining marketing asset with
Excite@Home. ‘

Total Other Income (Expense)

Total other income (expense) consists principally of interest income and interest expense and minority interest.
Interest income is generated primarily from cash and cash equivalents held in interest bearing accounts. Interest
income decreased 77.7% to $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $3.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. The decrease is mainly due to lower cash balances that resulted from our cash used in operating
and investing activities. Interest expense decreased 57.1% to $0.3 million for 2001 from $0.7 million in 2000. In
December 2001, we acquired the remaining portion of a partnership in the Washington D.C. region. Therefore, the
minority interest related to the partnership has been eliminated.

Net Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2001, our net loss was $56.3 million or $7.70 diluted per share after adjusting
for the one-for-eight reverse stock split effected July 23, 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2000, our net loss
was $105.7 million or $14.43 per share, also adjusted for the reverse stock split. The decrease in the net loss was
primarily due to:

¢ Reversal of restructuring accrual of $2.7 million compared to $35 million charge in prior year;

e Decreased cost of services for TSG and International of $5.3 million primarily from reduced
telecommunication and call center expenses;

e Decreased operating expenses, most significantly:

o Decreased sales and marketing expenses of $20.1 million from reduced payroll and professional services and
reduction in Excite prepaid marketing expenses;

¢ Decreased technology development expenses of $3.5 million primarily from reduced payroll; and

o Decreased general and administrative expenses of $4.3 million primarily from reduced payroll, elimination of
facilities and decreased legal fees associated with Ticketmaster litigation.

e These factors contributing to our decrease in net loss, were offset by the following factors:
> Charge for impairment of assets of $18.0 million;
s Decreased interest income of $2.3 million; and

o Decreased TSG and International revenues of $2.3 million, primarily from reduced ticket volume following
September 11.
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Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999

Revenues

Ticketing Services Group. Revenues from TSG increased 19.8% to $32.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2000 from $27.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. With the successful performances by Wango
Tango, Backstreet Boys, Billy Joel and WWF Smack Down, our revenues relating to service fees increased in
correlation with the increase in ticket volume sales. In addition, our revenue increased due to our performer charity
ticket auctions as well as to new clients. The increase in revenues was partially offset by lost revenue related to a
large Bay Area Seating Service client who terminated its contract with us effective December 31, 1999. The
termination resulted in a loss of approximately $3.7 million in revenues in 2000 compared with 1999. The decrease
in ticket volume due to the client termination was more than offset by new clients and single-ticket sales from the
Sydney 2000 Olympics Games.

Interner Ticketing Group. Revenues from ITG increased 54.5% to $17.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2000 from $11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. A full year of revenues from our 1999
acquisitions contributed approximately $3.2 million of the increase. The remaining increase was the result of
increased ticket volume from our Internet enabled software licensees. Included in ITG’s revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2000 was $1.3 million relating to the non-cash portion of the SLOC agreement.

International. International revenues increased 37.0% to $6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000
from $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. We expect International revenues to continue to grow as
we increase the number of software product licensees and Internet enabled licensees in new markets and countries.

Other. Other revenues decreased 17.9% to $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $2.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 1999. This reflects our exiting from the original Internet portal strategy.

Cost of Services

Ticketing Services Group. Cost of services for TSG increased 30.2% to $25.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $19.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. As a percentage of TSG revenues,
total cost of services for TSG increased to 79.2% from 72.9%. The increase was mainly attributable to costs related
to charity ticket auctions, which primarily consist of the face value of the tickets and amounts due to the charitable
organizations. Additionally, the increase was attributable to the cost of guaranteed tickets for the Wango Tango
event. These costs were partially offset by a decline in our client’s share of service fees consistent with the decline
of ticket volume related to the loss of a large Bay Area Seating Service client in December 1999.

Internet Ticketing Group. Cost of services for ITG increased 43.9% to $8.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2000 from $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. A full year of costs from our 1999 acquisitions
contributed approximately $3.0 million of the increase. The current year also includes cost of services related to the
growth in our license and support business, including services for the Salt Lake 2002 Olympic Winter Games. As a
percentage of ITG revenue, cost of services decreased to 47.4% from 50.9%.

International. Cost of services for International increased 36.4% to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2000 from $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. The increase was primarily caused by cost of
services from our acquired subsidiary, dataCulture, in August 1999,

Other. Other cost of services decreased 79.2% to $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $2.4
million for the year ended December 31, 1999. The decrease was consistent with the decrease in revenue due to our
change in business strategy from an Internet portal.

Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased 13.5% to $39.4 million for the year ended

December 31, 2000 from $34.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. As a percentage of total revenues,
sales and marketing expenses decreased to 67.2% from 75.6%. The decrease is mainly attributable to the decline in
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professional services, reflecting the issuance of warrants to performers in the prior year as well as termination of our
relationship with an advertising agency in the year ended December 31, 2000. The decrease also reflects a reduction
in advertising expenses as we continue to focus our efforts on our clients instead of building our brand. We expect
our sales and marketing expenses to continue to decrease as we further direct cur effort from high cost branding to
combined client-driven advertising and promotions, a strategy that emphasizes our client relationships.

Technology Development. Technology development expenses increased 11.2% to $13.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000, from $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. Of this increase, $0.7 million
was related to technology development expenses from our acquired subsidiaries. As a percentage of total revenues,
technology development expenses decreased to 23.7% from 27.3%. The decrease reflects our efforts to consolidate
software code lines. The consolidation enables us to reduce costs as we support the development of fewer software
products. We continue efforts to improve and expand our core ticketing system, and we expect a greater stabilization
of our expenses and additional benefits from consolidation as we reduce our development efforts to a support
function for a single ticketing system.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased 65.9% to $30.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000, from $18.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. As a percentage of total
revenue, general and administrative expenses increased to 52.3% from 40.4% in the prior year. Approximately $3.6
million of the increase was due to an increase in professional services expenses, related to legal costs associated with
our litigation with Ticketmaster, and a write-off of approximately $1.0 million of acquisition costs related to an
abandoned merger with First Call International, Ltd., a United Kingdom ticketing services and software provider.
Bad debt expenses contributed $1.7 million of the increase. Our 1999 acquisitions contributed approximately $1.6
million of additional administration costs from continuing multiple operations. The remainder of the increase was
the result of payroll and related expenses, including travel, supplies, computer maintenance and telephone expenses
representing investments in our managerial and administrative infrastructure to facilitate our growth, an increase in
depreciation of $1.6 million, resulting from capital expenditures during 1999 and 2000, an increase in insurance and
business taxes of $1.1 million, an increase in office rent and related expenses of $0.9 million, and an increase in
accounting fees and professional fees for investor relations of $0.5 million. We anticipate general and administrative
expenses to decline as we continue to integrate operations of our acquired subsidiaries, including consolidation of
administration functions and reduction in office space.

Amortization of Intangibles. Amortization of goodwill and intangibles increased 34.2% to $9.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000 from $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. The increase was primarily
due to the amortization of goodwill from acquisitions that occurred in 1999.

Restructuring Charge. In connection with the new strategy, we recorded a restructuring charge of $35.1 million.
The restructure charges comprise $30.7 million related to the write-off of certain intangible assets, $2.8 million
related to the consolidation of facilities, $1.2 million of involuntary termination benefits and $0.4 million related to
terminated contracts. The write-off of certain intangible assets represents a noncash impairment charge. Due to the
abandonment of the ticketing portal strategy and the planned reduction in code lines, we determined certain
intangible assets, related to the acquisitions of California Tickets.com and Lasergate Systems, Inc., met the test for
impairment. Accordingly, we have reduced the carrying value of the related assets to their estimated fair value,
determined based upon a discounted cash flow method. We also reviewed the estimated lives of certain of our assets
that resulted in shortened lives and the acceleration of amortization expense for certain intangible assets. The
impairment charge had no impact on our cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2000 or our ability to generate
cash flows in the future. In conjunction with the review for impairment, the remaining estimated lives of some long-
lived assets were shortened, offsetting the benefit to amortization expense of a reduced carrying value.

Purchased In-Process Research and Development. The purchased in-process research and development charges
recorded during the year ended December 31, 1999 were recorded in conjunction with the acquisitions of California
Tickets.com and TicketsLive. The amounts recorded, $3.5 million for California Tickets.com and $1.8 million for
TicketsLive, represented the estimated fair value related to incomplete projects reflecting the risk-adjusted cash
flows and the state of completion. At the date of acquisition, the projects associated with the in-process research and
development efforts had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses. Accordingly,
these costs were expensed. TicketsLive was conducting development activities associated with the completion of the
next generation of Select, TicketsLive’s automated ticketing system. The projects under development were to

23




increase speed and expand functionality, flexibility and reporting. California Tickets.com was in the process of

completing customization and development of its web site and transaction processing systems. Since we already had

these systems in place, the projects, which were in varying stages of completion, were of no continuing value to us.
Total Other Income (Expense)

Total other income (expense) consists principally of interest income and interest expense. Interest income is
generated primarily from cash and cash equivalents held in interest bearing accounts. Interest income increased
36.4% to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $2.2 million for the year ended December 31,
1999. The increase is mainly due to higher cash balances that resulted from our financing activities. Interest expense
decreased 76.1% to $0.7 million for 2000 from $3.0 million in 1999, reflecting the reduction of our long-term debt
in connection with our initial public offering in November 1999.

Net Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2000, our net loss before extraordinary item was $105.7 million or $14.43 per
share. For the year ended December 31, 1999, our net loss before extraordinary item was $63.5 million or $28.36
per share. The increase in the net loss before extraordinary item was primarily due to:

o Restructuring charges of $35.1 million;

¢ Increased operating expenses, most significantly:

o Increased non-cash marketing expenses of $5.5 million;

o Increased amortization and depreciation expenses of $5.0 million;

o Personnel and related expenses of $5.3 million;

o Advertising, public relations and trade show expenses of $7.1 million related to increased promotions and the
development of our brand;

o Professional services expenses — legal fees of $3.0 million; and
e Abandoned acquisition costs of $1.0 million.

These factors contributing to our increase in net loss before extraordinary item, were offset by the following
factors:

s An increase in total revenues in 2000, net of acquisitions, of $5.8 million and,

o Increased net benefit of $3.1 million in other (income) expense; and

= $5.3 million of purchased in-process research and development in the prior year second quarter;

o $4.0 million of non-employee stock-based compensation.

The decrease in the net loss per share reflects the increase in our basic and diluted weighted average shares of 7.3
million. This increase is due to the conversion of our preferred shares to 3.7 million shares of common and our
initial public offering totaling 1.0 million shares that was completed in November 1999. The convertible preferred

stock and other potentially dilutive securities (including stock options) were antidilutive and therefore excluded
from the calculation of diluted loss per share.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents decreased by $11.1 million during 2001, from $19.9 million as of December 31,
2000 to $8.8 million as of December 31, 2001. The decrease resulted principally from net cash used in operating
activities of $16.9 million, primarily reflecting the funding of losses before depreciation, amortization, restructuring
charges, certain non-cash marketing expenses, and working capital. Cash also decreased as a result of purchases of
property and equipment of $5.4 million, an increase in restricted cash of $2.5 million, and payments relating to
capital leases of approximately $2.8 million. These decreases were partially offset by $17.0 million in gross
proceeds received from our issuance of Series F Preferred Stock in June and August of 2001, as described under
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters — Recent Sales of Unregistered
Securities.

The deterioration in our operating results following September 11, combined with capital requirements to bring
on-line several major new clients signed in the fourth quarter of 2001, created significant liquidity demands on us in
early 2002. In addition, we believed there was an opportunity through additional capital investment in infrastructure
and business expansion to enhance the Company’s longer term growth opportunities. To alleviate these liquidity
demands and provide the funds necessary for further expansion, we raised additional gross proceeds of $20.0 million
in March 2002 through the issuance of Series G Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase Common Stock, as
described under Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters — Recent Sales
of Unregistered Securities.

We have incurred losses since our inception and, given our decision to continue to invest our capital in
infrastructure and business expansion, we expect to continue to incur losses in the future. We also anticipate
purchasing additional property and equipment during 2002. We currently have contractual commitments, principally
lease obligations, advertising, and client marketing agreements, of approximately $8.5 million in 2002 and lesser
amounts in the years thereafter. Further, we, and some of our current and former directors and officers, have been
named in various legal complaints. We have tendered these matters to our insurance carriers for coverage of legal
fees and costs incurred in connection with the defense of these matters, as well as for any potential liability found
against us and any named officers and directors. Insurance coverage and the extent of coverage on these matters is
subject to final determination by our insurance carriers and is subject to a deductible. Additionally, we have entered
into a contingent fee arrangement with our legal counsel in the Ticketmaster action to mitigate our further
expenditures on fees, although we will continue to bear significant costs associated with this litigation. Under the
contingent fee arrangement, our legal counsel will be entitled to 50% of the recovery, if any, that we may receive in
the Ticketmaster litigation.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to meet these needs and fund our operations
for at least the next 12 months. However, while we do not expect a significant fall off in our revenue or related
operating cash flows, due to the largely fixed nature of our infrastructure costs, such a fall off resulting from events
such as further terrorist attacks, an extended major league baseball strike or lock out, the loss of major clients, or
other causes, could result in our needing an additional capital infusion. In addition, our Series F Preferred Stock and
Series G Preferred Stock accrue cumulative dividends at a rate of nine percent per year, compounding quarterly.
While we will likely pay these dividends by issuing additional shares of our Common Stock, we may elect to pay
them in cash. We are also obligated to redeem our Series F Preferred Stock and Series G Preferred Stock in 2006
and 2007, respectively, as described under ltem 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and Related
Stockholder Matters — Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities. We cannot assure you that we will have sufficient
financial resources to make those redemption payments or be able to obtain replacement financing on those
redemption dates. We also cannot assure you that if additional capital is required that it will be available on
reasonable terms or at all. In addition, the holders of our Series F Preferred Stock and Series G Preferred Stock have
the right to prevent us from incurring any further debt or issuing additional equity securities.

Critical Accounting Policies

We believe the following are among the most critical accounting policies that impact our consolidated financial
statements. We suggest that our significant accounting policies, as described in our consolidated financial statements
in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, be read in conjunction with this Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use. We continue to invest capital in our infrastructure and business expansion to obtain and develop new software
and code line to enhance our ticketing inventory management and to offer customized products to our clients. Our
intention is not to market and resell the specific software and code line, but to use it in the management of ticket
inventory and processing. As of December 31, 2001, capitalized computer software costs were $2.3 million, net of
accumulated amortization.

Our capitalized costs are comprised of direct costs and allocated costs. Direct costs incurred include payments
made to outside vendors for programming and internal direct labor. Common costs such as benefits are allocated
based on direct labor dollars within a specific department and business unit. Further improvements and
enhancements to the software and code line are expensed as incurred. Amortization for these assets is recorded on
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of each individual product. We continue to review these
assets for impairment by taking into consideration enhancements and other new products developed by us.
Recoverability of the assets is measured by their future effectiveness for us and the anticipated expiration based on
future code line. If such assets are considered to be impaired or superceded by new code line, the impairment is
recognized and the value is written down to an appropriate fair market value. If it is determined that the utilization of
the software or code line is less than originally estimated, then its life will be shortened and the amortization will be
accelerated. There are many assumptions and estimates underlying the determination of an impairment event or loss.
The assumptions and estimates include, but are not limited to, the continued usefulness of the asset and the
estimated fair market value of the assets, which are based on additional assumptions such as asset utilization and
length of service the asset will be used. Although we believe our assumptions and estimates are reasonable,
deviations from the assumptions and estimates could produce a materially different result.

Statements of Financial Accounting Standards {(“SFAS") No. 121, Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and QOther Intangible Assets. In
connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, we will need to perform an impairment test of goodwill and other
intangible assets in 2002. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, acquired goodwill and other intangible assets will
be aggregated with our existing business segments and evaluated for impairment. These assets will be tested for
impairment at least annually using a two-step process that begins with an allocation of goodwill to our business
segments and then we will estimate the fair market value of the reporting business segment. Intangible assets that
have finite useful lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS No. 142 also requires additional
disclosures of information related to the changes in carrying amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets from
period to period in the aggregate by reportable business segment and asset class for those assets subject to
amortization and for those not subject to amortization. The process of evaluating goodwill for impairment involves
the determination of the fair value of our business segments. Inherent in such fair value determinations are certain
judgments and estimates, including the interpretation of current economic indicators and market valuations, and
assumptions about our strategic plans with regard to our operations. To the extent additional information arises or
our strategies change, it is possible that our conclusion regarding goodwill impairment could change and result in a
material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in transactions
accounted for purchases are included in goodwill. As disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, we had
goodwill in the amount of $40.5 million, net of accumulated amortization, at December 31, 2001. Through the end
of 2001, goodwill was amortized on the straight-line method over a 10-year period. We performed an impairment
test of goodwill as of December 31, 2001, which resulted in no impairment being identified. Inherent in such
valuations, we must make certain judgments, estimates, and assumptions about our strategic plans with regard to our
operations. There are many assumptions and estimates underlying the determination of an impairment event or loss.
To the extent additional information arises or our strategies change, it is possible that our conclusion regarding
goodwill impairment could change and result in a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.
Additionally, under the new guidelines of SFAS 142, the assessment of the recoverability of goodwill will be
impacted if the fair market value does not exceed the carrying value. Adoption of this standard could produce a
significant impairment in 2002.
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Tax Matters
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards

We incurred taxable losses for federal and state purposes for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999. Accordingly, we did not incur any federal income tax expense for those fiscal years other than the minimum
required taxes for certain state and local jurisdictions. We are subject to minimum income taxes in various states for
each corporate entity, which is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The significant components of our net deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows (in
thousands):

2001 2000
. (In thousands)
INONAEAUCHDIE TESEIVES wvvviiveivreeeeerereriestietssvestestessses e s et etressensenesssestnesssases $ 1,262 §  (148)
Net operating loss carryforwards .........cecevvremneecininienccie e 71,695 51,023
ORET v irveerreteiee e eresesebecre et ersaeaberae et e e to b eer s e s esbesbeebsesaabesbaesaesbabeen b e raresnses 10,343 7,277
Valuation alIOWANCE ....c.eiveiceicccieerce et sae et s (83,300) __(58.152)
Deferred taX ASSE, NEL ..ccvveveereiireereresireieerseeneeseesereieseitreeeeessnenesestnsonssssnserarsen $ — 3 —

As of December 31, 2001, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
approximately $215 million, which can be used to offset taxable income from operations through the year 2021.
Additionally we had net operating loss carryforwards for California income tax purposes of approximately $56.9
million, which can be used to offset taxable income from operations through the year 2011.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of net
operating losses in the event of an “ownership change” of a corporation. Accordingly, a company’s ability to use a
net operating losses may be limited as prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. Events which may
cause limitations in the amount of net operating losses that we may use in any one-year include, but are not limited
to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period. The issuance of our Series G
Preferred Stock on March 25, 2002, may have triggered such an ownership change. Due to the complexities of the
calculation, a determination has not been made at this time,

A valuation allowance is provided for the deferred tax asset when it is more likely than not that some portion of
the deferred tax asset will be realized. We have established a full valuation allowance on the aforementioned
deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty of realization.

Non-Qualified Stock Options

As of March 135, 2002, we had outstanding non-qualified stock options to purchase 1,292,586 shares issued to
various employees, consultants and directors under our stock options plans. Each option entitles its holder to
purchase a share of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of approximately $13.15. On exercise of an
option, we will be entitled to an income tax deduction equal to the difference between the exercise price of the
option and the then fair market value of the common stock. As the exercise of the options is at the sole discretion of
the holder of the options, the timing of the corresponding income tax deduction is outside of our control.

Forward Looking Information Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements.
The Act was designed to encourage companies to provide prospective information about them without fear of
litigation. The prospective information must be identified as forward looking and must be accompanied by
meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those projected in the statements. The statements about our plans, strategies, intentions, expectations and
prospects contained throughout this document are based on current expectations. These statements are forward
looking and actual results may differ materially from those predicted as of the date of this report in the forward-
looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. In addition, past financial performance is not necessarily a
reliable indicator of future performance and investors should not use historical performance to anticipate results or
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future period trends. We do not undertake to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, even if
new information becomes available or other events occur in the future.

Forward Looking Information Regarding Revenue Growth and Execution of Gur Business Plan

Outlined below are certain factors that may preclude us from meeting our revenue expectations and fulfilling our
business strategy.

If We Fail To Retain Clients, We May Experience A Loss Of Revenue. In order to achieve our intended growth
and market presence, we must satisfy our current clients’ needs. If we fail to do so, we may lose significant clients
and the revenue we generate from those clients.

We May Not Be Able To Maintain Or Improve Cur Competitive Position Because Of The Intense Competition In
The Ticketing Industry. Intense competition in the ticketing industry presents significant challenges to management,
marketing and technical personnel. We believe competition will become more challenging as the market for tickets
expands and technology advances. Qur primary competitor on a national level is Ticketmaster Corporation, which
has operations in multiple locations throughout the United States. Ticketmaster Corporation has a widely recognized
brand name in the live event ticketing business, a longer operating history in the ticketing industry and generally
more extensive ticketing inventory and greater financial and other resources than we do. We commenced our
operations in May 1996 and did not begin to sell tickets on the Internet until October 1997. Because of our limited
operating history, we have not yet gained the same level of brand recognition or accumulated as broad a ticketing
inventory as Ticketmaster Corporation. In addition, because we have developed through the acquisition of smaller,
regional outsourcing services providers and in-house systems developers, we are still in the stages of developing a
strong national presence.

QOur competitors also include:
= anumber of smaller, regional outsourcing services providers;
> international and national in-house systems providers;

¢ entertainment organizations that handle their own ticket sales and distribution through online and other
distribution channels;

° international, national and local outsourcing services providers, which may or may not currently offer online
transactional capabilities.

Many of these competitors have greater brand recognition, longer operating histories and a greater number of
well-established client relationships than we do in the geographic regions in which they operate. Because of our
relatively short operating history and presence in a limited number of geographic regions prior to our move into e-
commerce, we have not yet established a significant competitive position in a number of geographic areas.

In Order To Maintain Our Competitive Position In The Ticketing Industry, We Must Be Able To Attract New
Clients And Ticket Inventory, And We Cannot Be Certain That We Will Be Able To Do So. If we cannot attract new
clients and ticket inventory, or if we lose clients to other outsourcing services providers or otherwise, we may not be
able to maintain our competitive position in the ticketing industry. In recent years, the live entertainment industry
has been moving toward consolidation. As a result, contracts for outsourcing services are often negotiated on a
multi-venue basis, and large ticket inventories are concentrated in the hands of a few entertainment conglomerates.
Because outsourcing services contracts are often multi-year contracts and there are fewer potential new clients,
competition for their business is especially intense. Historically, we have grown our business primarily through
acquisitions. Industry consolidation has reduced the number of viable acquisition candidates and, accordingly,
limited future acquisition opportunities. In order to increase our client base and ticket inventory, we may need to
attract clients who currently have relationships with other outsourcing services providers. At the same time, other
outsourcing services providers will likely attempt to attract our current clients to use their outsourcing services. In
addition, our clients may terminate their contracts for a variety of reasons, or may not renew their contracts at the
end of their terms.
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We Have Limited Experience In Offering E-Commerce Services To Consumers And May Not Be Able To
Generate Substantial Revenues and Efficiencies From Internet Sales. We began online ticket sales in the third
quarter of 1997. Historically, we have sold tickets primarily through retail stores and telephone sales centers. In
order to generate substantial revenues and efficiencies from online ticket sales, we must continue to increase the
number of clients who use our online ticketing services. These clients generally use software systems that do not
enable ticket sales over the Internet without a specific software upgrade. We cannot guarantee continued acceptance
of our clients to Internet enable their ticketing services.

System Failures Could Damage Our Reputation And Result In The Loss Of Customers And Clients. Qur business
is almost entirely dependent on our call centers, computer systems and telecommunications systems. Heavy stress
placed on our systems during peak periods could cause our systems to operate at unacceptably low speeds or fail
altogether. Any significant degradation or failure of our systems or any other systems in the ticketing process,
including telephone or telecommunications services, even for a short time, could cause consumers to suffer delays in
ticket purchases. The resulting inconvenience to consumers could damage our reputation with the public, cause
consumers to purchase tickets from other sources and deter repeat customers. Delays in services could also cause
substantial losses for clients, which could result in claims against us. These delays could also result in the
termination or non-renewal of our existing service agreements.

In the future, increased volume due to growth, if any, may require us to expend additional funds to expand and
further upgrade our technology, transaction processing systems and network infrastructure. Any inability to add
additional software and hardware on a timely basis to accommodate increased traffic on our web site may cause
unanticipated system disruptions and result in slower response times. We do not presently have fully redundant
systems, a formal disaster recovery plan or alternative providers of hosting services. Additionally, we may not carry
sufficient business interruption insurance to compensate us for all of the possible losses that we may incur. In
addition, our clients’ in-house systems also may be subject to failures and degradations that could interrupt ticket
sales both through clients’ systems and on our web site. Unanticipated problems may cause a significant systern
outage or data loss, and result in the loss of clients.

We May Lose Key Personnel, Which Could Adversely Affect Our Relationships With Major Clients Or Strategic
Partners And Impair The Effectiveness Of Our Operations. Key personnel may choose not to continue their
employment with us for reasons including compensation, location, and the perception of career opportunities with
us, our competitors, or in other industries. If we lose key personnel, our relationships with major clients or strategic
partners who had close relationships with these personnel may be impaired. In addition, if we are unable to replace
any key personnel that we may lose, we may suffer a disruption of operations and a decline in revenue.

The Process Of Integrating Technologies From Our Acquisitions Could Disrupt Our Ticketing Systems And
Damage Our Relationships With Our Clients. The process of integrating the various technologies of acquired
companies into one interactive system has caused, and may in the future cause, system downtime and other system
disruptions. We expect to integrate and consolidate several of our in-house systems over the next several years. We
may experience system failures in the future as a result of this integration, which could impair our relationships with
our clients. Any system failures could cause one or more of our clients to terminate its contract or fail to renew its
contract with us.

Because We Have A Limited Operating History As A Consolidated Business, We Have An Unproven Business
Model. Since 1996, we have completed eleven acquisitions of companies with diverse backgrounds in the ticketing
industry. We have a limited history operating as a consolidated business, and accordingly, an unproven business
mode] that is substantially dependent on the growth of revenues from increased ticket sales on the Internet and
expanding our client base. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in increasing our Internet sales in future
periods as well as increasing our client base. If we are not successful in these endeavors, our revenues will not grow
in accordance with our business plan and may fall short of expectations of market analysts and investors, which
could negatively affect the price of our common stock.

Online Security Breaches Could Result In A Loss Of Consumer Confidence In E-Commerce, Which Could

Impair Cur Ability To Implement Our Business Model. The secure transmission of confidential information over the
Internet is essential in maintaining consumer and supplier confidence in our services. Any publicized security
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problems affecting us or other e-commerce companies could inhibit the growth of e-commerce and, accordingly, the
growth of our Internet sales revenue as contemplated in our business model. We rely on licensed encryption and
authentication technology to effect secure transmission of confidential information, including credit card numbers.
We cannot be certain that our security measures will prevent security breaches, including break-ins, viruses or
disruptions by consumers or others. A party that is able to circumvent our security systems could steal proprietary
information, damage our database or communications lines or otherwise cause interruptions in our operations.
Security breaches also could damage our reputation and expose us to a risk of loss or litigation and possible liability.
Our insurance policies carry coverage limits that may not be adequate to reimburse us for losses caused by security
breaches.

Our Reliance On Third Party Software And Hardware Makes Us Vulnerable To Changes In Our Suppliers’
Products And Services, Which Could Adversely Affect Qur Ability To Service Our Clients In A Timely Manner. Gur
automated ticketing solutions incorporate software products and use computer hardware and equipment developed
by other entities. Our reliance on third party software and hardware makes us vulnerable to changes in our suppliers’
products and services and any such changes may impair our ability to provide adequate outsourcing services and in-
house systems to our clients in a timely manner. For example, we cannot be certain that all of our suppliers will
remain in business or will continue to support the product lines that we use. Nor can we be certain that their product
lines will remain viable or will otherwise continue to be available to us. Qur current suppliers could significantly
alter their pricing in a manner adverse to us. If any of these entities ceases to do business, abandons or fails to
enhance a particular product line, or significantly raises its prices, we may need to seek other suppliers. We cannot
be certain that other suppliers will be able to provide us with necessary products at favorable prices, or at all.

A Strike In Major League Baseball Or The Public Discussion Of A Possible Strike Could Materially Adversely
Impact Our Revenue. Concern about the cancellation of baseball games as a result of a strike or lock out in Major
League Baseball, the actual cancellation or postponement of individual baseball games or the ultimate cancellation
or postponement of the entire baseball season, could significantly reduce our revenue. We generate fees from the
sale of individual tickets and if events are either cancelled or alternatively, if consumers reduce their purchases in
anticipation of a potential strike or lock out, those fees would be negatively impacted. If any of the above
circumstances occur, we would see a reduction in our revenues from our various relationships with MLBAM and
individual baseball teams with a commensurate erosion of our operating results.

We Depend On Retail Stores To Reach Consumers, And [f We Cannot Maintain These Relationships And
Establish New Relationships, Our Ticket Sales May Be Adversely Affected. A portion of our ticket sales is generated
through arrangements with retail stores, Qur contracts with these retail stores are generally for a short-term, and
subject to periodic negotiations regarding sales commissions, customer service and other matters. These stores cater
to consumers who are likely to purchase tickets for sporting and entertainment events, and are attracted to other
ticketing services. If we cannot maintain good retail relationships and continue to establish new relationships, our
ability to reach consumers and generate sufficient ticket sales could be materially and adversely affected.

We May Become Subject To More Restrictive E-Commerce Regulation That Could Adversely Affect Our Ability
To Increase Internet Sales. We are subject to regulations applicable to businesses generally and laws or regulations
applicable to e-commerce directly. Currently, we believe that there are few laws and regulations directly applicable
to the Internet and online ticketing services. It is likely, however, that a number of laws and regulations may be
adopted with respect to the Internet or commercial online services that could affect our online ticketing services.

Any new legislation or regulation, or the application of existing laws and regulations to the Internet and
commercial online services could restrict our ability to grow our business according to our plan.

Laws regulating e-commerce might cover matters such as, among other things, user privacy and the use of our
consumer database for email marketing purposes, limitations on ticket service fees, the content of our web site,
taxation by states where we sell tickets, copyright protection for us and competing ticketing services, distribution,
direct linking, antitrust and consumer protection laws.

In addition, the applicability of a variety of existing laws in various jurisdictions to the Internet and commercial
online services may take years to resolve. These issues may include property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel
and personal privacy, among others. For example, tax authorities in a number of states currently are reviewing the
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appropriate tax treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce. New state tax regulations may subject us to
additional state sales and income taxes.

We May Be Affected By Changes In Laws And Standards Relating To Data Collection And Use Practices And
The Privacy Of Internet Users. Recent growing public concern regarding privacy and the collection, distribution and
use of information about Internet users has led to increased federal and state scrutiny and legislative and regulatory
activity concerning data collection and use practices. Various federal and state governments and agencies have
recently proposed limitations on the collection and use of information regarding Internet users. In Cctober 1998, the
European Union adopted a directive that limits the collection and use of information regarding Internet users in
Europe. In addition to government activity, a number of industry and privacy advocacy groups are considering
various new, additional or different self-regulatory standards. This focus, and any legisiation, regulations or
standards promulgated, may impact us. Although our compliance with applicable federal and state laws, regulations
and industry guidelines has not had a material adverse effect on us, governments, trade associations and industry
self-regulatory groups may enact more burdensome laws, regulations and guidelines, including consumer privacy
laws, affecting us and our customers. Since many of the proposed laws or regulations are just being developed, and a
consensus on privacy and data usage has not been reached, we cannot yet determine the impact these regulations
may have on our business. However, these regulations and guidelines could adversely affect our business.

Our Limited Operating History And Limited Internet Experience May Cause Significant Fluctuations In Our
Operating Results. Our limited operating history makes it difficult for us to predict future results of operations and
difficult for you to evaluate our prospects or us. Our operating results may fall below the expectations of market
analysts or investors in some future quarter. If this occurs, the price of our common stock would likely decrease. The
emerging nature of the markets in which we compete makes forecasting more difficult and potentially unreliable.
Cur current and future expense levels are based predominantly on our operating plans and estimates of future
revenues, and are to a large extent fixed. We may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to compensate for
any unexpected shortfall in revenues. Accordingly, if our revenues in any particular quarter are lower than
anticipated, our operating results would likely fall short of market expectations.

The Seasonality Of The Live Entertainment Industry Could Cause Our Quarterly Operating Results To Fall
Below The Expectations Of Market Analysts And Investors, Which Could Adversely Affect The Market Price Of Our
Common Stock. Many popular live entertainment events are held during the warm weather months. In addition,
ticket sales for such events generally commence several months prior to the event date. Because of these factors, our
business generally has lower revenues in the first and fourth fiscal quarters. These seasonality issues could cause our
quarterly operating results to fall below market expectations, and adversely affect the market price of our common
stock. Other related seasonality issues that could cause our quarterly operating results to fluctuate in the future
include:

» the dates event tickets are released for sale by our clients;

o the decisions of one or more clients to cancel or postpone events;
o the timing of large, nonrecurring events; and

» the concentration of events in any given quarter.

As More Of Our Clients Use Our Online Services, We May Encounter Technological Difficulties That Could
Impair Our Ability To Increase Online Revenues. In order for most of our clients to use our online ticketing
capabilities, we must develop and install additional software to make their systems compatible with ours. This
process can be difficult and we may encounter technological difficulties that may inhibit us from servicing our
clients online, which may cause more of our clients to terminate or fail to renew their contract with us. Because we
have a broad portfolio of in-house systems, we must either create separate Internet interfaces for each of these
products or consolidate our in-house systems. We may experience difficulties in further consolidating our portfolio
of in-house systems into a few comprehensive in-house systems and in developing links from our clients’ various
software and hardware systems to our ticketing systems and databases. Due to these potential technological
difficulties, some clients may be averse to change and may require a lengthy sales cycle before they will upgrade to
Internet ticketing with our system.
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Infringement Or Other Claims Could Adversely Affect Our Ability To Market Our Products, Limit Our Rights To
Certain Technology And Harm Our Results Of Operations. Although we believe we have valid proprietary rights to
all of our intellectual property, we could be subject to claims of alleged trademark, patent or other infringement as a
result of our actions or the actions of our licensees. Any litigation over intellectual property rights or business
practices could result in:

o payment by us of substantial damages;

o injunctive or other equitable relief that could block our ability to market or license our products; and

o the loss of rights to technologies necessary to operate portions of our business.

Any litigation, regardless of the outcome, could result in substantial costs and diversion of managerial and other.

Our Proprietary Technology And Intellectual Property May Be Inadequately Protected, Which Could Harm Our
Competitive Position. We rely on trademark, trade secret and copyright law to protect our technology and our brand.
We also rely on confidentiality and/or license and other agreements with employees, customers, and others to
protect our proprietary rights. We have no patents. Despite our efforts to control access to our proprietary
information, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our products, technologies or
other intellectual property without authorization. In addition, effective copyright, trademark, trade secret and patent
protection may be unavailable or limited in foreign countries that do not offer protection comparable to that
provided by United States laws. Internet technologies are evolving rapidly, and third parties may also develop
similar or superior technologies independently. Any unauthorized use of our proprietary information could result in
costly and time-consuming litigation to enforce our proprietary rights. In addition, any third party development of
similar or superior technologies could impede our ability to compete effectively in the ticketing industry.

Ineffective Protection Of Qur Trademarks And Service Marks Could Reduce The Value Of Our Brands. We
cannot be certain that the steps we have taken and will take to protect our brands will be adequate, and such steps
may require considerable expenditures. Nor can we be certain that third parties will not infringe upon or
misappropriate the copyrights, trademarks, trade dress and similar proprietary rights that currently protect our
brands. Ineffective protection of these rights could reduce the value of our brands. We have registered the trade
name “Tickets.com” and the stylized trademark *“1.800.TICKETS”, the service mark “Advantix” and other
trademarks in the United States. We have also applied to register the trade names “Tickets.com” in various foreign
countries. Effective trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection will not be available or sought in
every country in which our products and services are available online or by telephone. We may not be able to obtain
effective trademark or service mark registration until the prolonged use of our marks has generated secondary
meaning for purposes of trademark and service mark law. In addition, there are other parties who have corporate
names or brand names very similar to ours, and whose names may also include the term “tickets,” and who may, as
a result, bring claims against us for trademark infringement or challenge our rights to register the trade name
“Tickets.com,” the stylized trademark “1.800.TICKETS,” or both.

Our Licensees Could Diminish The Quality Of Our Brands And Adversely Affect Our Reputation. We have
licensed in the past, and expect to license in the future, proprietary rights such as trademarked or copyrighted
material to third parties. While we attempt to ensure that the quality of our brands are maintained by these licensees,
we cannot be certain that these licensees will not take actions that might materially and adversely affect the value of
our proprietary rights or reputation.

If We Are Not Able To Preserve Our Domain Names We May Not Be Able To Compete Effectively On The
Internet. We currently hold the Internet domain names “tickets.com,” “ProTix.com,” ‘“bass-tix.com,”
“basstickets.com,” “fantastix.com” and others. We may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring domain
names that are similar to, infringe upon or otherwise decrease the value of our trademarks and other proprietary
rights. Any such inability could impair our ability to compete .effectively on the Internet. The acquisition and
maintenance of domain names are generally regulated by governmental agencies and their designees. The regulation
of domain names in the United States and in foreign countries is subject to change. Governing bodies may establish
additional top-level domains, appoint additional domain name registrars or modify the requirements for holding
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domain names. As a result, there can be no assurance that we will be able to acquire or maintain relevant domain
names in all countries in which we conduct or intend to conduct business. In addition, the relationship between
regulations governing domain names and laws protecting trademarks and similar proprietary rights is unclear.

Forward Looking Information Regarding Cost of Services

We May Become Subject To State Regulation Of Ticket Sales, Which Could Impose Restrictions On The Manner
And Pricing Of Our Ticket Sales. Many states and municipalities have adopted statutes regulating ticketing
transactions within their jurisdictions. We cannot be certain whether any of these laws and regulations may be
determined to be applicable to our business or whether new laws and regulations potentially adverse to our business
will be adopted. If we become subject to additional laws and regulations, the manner and pricing of our ticket sales
may be restricted, which could have an adverse effect on our revenues. Some states and municipalities require that
ticket sellers obtain a resellers license. One or more states or municipalities could take the position that a telephonic
or electronic ticket sale to one of their residents is a sufficient basis for application of that jurisdiction’s reseller
statute. Because we believe these statutes to be inapplicable to our activities, we may not be in compliance with
these statutes. Governmental agencies or authorities could also argue that other state or local licensing or “ticket
scalping” statutes apply to our activities. These statutes, among other things, limit the amount of service charges and
other fees that may be charged in connection with ticket sales. Other state and local regulations establish maximum
service fees on tickets for certain sporting and other events.

Forward Looking Information Regarding Operating Expenses

If We Cannot Effectively Integrate Our Numerous Acquisitions, We May Experience Increased Costs, Operating
Inefficiencies, System Disruptions And The Loss Of Clients. The integration of acquired companies into a cohesive
business requires the combination of different business models, financial, accounting and other internal systems,
varied technologies and personnel who have dissimilar expertise and backgrounds, It also requires the management
of companies or operating units that are geographically dispersed throughout the United States and internationally.
We cannot be certain that we will be able to successfully integrate the operations, personnel or systems of these
acquired companies in a timely fashion, if at all. If we fail to integrate operations and personnel effectively, we will
experience duplication of costs and operating inefficiencies. If we are unable to integrate technologies successfully,
we may experience system disruptions or failures that could result in the dissatisfaction or loss of clients. We also
cannot be certain that we will achieve value from our acquisitions commensurate with the consideration paid. If we
are unable to generate sufficient revenue from any acquired companies, we will experience an unanticipated
shortfall in revenue and may fail to meet the expectations of investors. If this occurs, the market price of our
common stock would likely decline.

The process of integrating our recent acquisitions has placed and will continue to place a significant burden on
our management team. Integration is complex, and presents numerous risks and uncertainties in addition to those set
forth above, including the following:

If We Cannot Attract And Retain Qualified Personnel In A Cost Effective And Timely Manner, We May Not Be
Able To Execute Our Growth Strategy. The significant growth of our business over the past three years due to our
acquisition of 11 companies has placed substantial demands on our management and other personnel. Our future
growth, if any, will depend in part on our ability to attract, motivate and retain skilled technical, sales and
management personnel. Competition for these personnel is intense, and we expect it to increase. We cannot be
certain that we will be able to retain our existing personnel or attract additional qualified personnel in the future. In
addition, a significant portion of our workforce is comprised of telephone sales representatives. We compete with
telemarketing firms, among others, for skilled telephone sales personnel and sometimes must pay premium hourly
wages to attract and retain them. In addition, their high turnover rate increases our recruiting and training costs. We
cannot be certain that we will be able to continue to hire and retain qualified personnel to support our planned
growth in a cost effective or timely manner. If we cannot, our ability to execute our growth strategy could be
impaired.

The Loss Of Personnel Could Require Us To Provide Costly Severance Packages, Which Could Adversely Affect
Our Operating Results. Although we have employment agreements with several of our executive officers, including
our Chief Executive Officer, our executive officers and key employees may terminate their employment at any time
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for any reason. In some circumstances, termination of their employment could result in substantial payments by us
for severance benefits under these employment agreements.

Acquisitions Will Create Charges To Earnings That Could Adversely Affect Our Operating Results And,
Accordingly, The Market Price Of Our Common Stock. As a result of past acquisitions, we have recorded a
significant amount of goodwill that we evaluate on a regular basis for impairment. Under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangibles, we will be required to test for impairment using estimated fair value of the reporting units as
well as undiscounted cash flows. As of December 31, 2001, we had goodwill and other intangible assets of $40.5
million. If the amount of recorded goodwill or other intangible assets is increased or we have future losses and are
unable to demonstrate our ability to recover the amount of goodwill, an additional impairment charge would be
taken, thereby significantly affecting our operating results.

We May Face Liability For Online Content That May Not Be Covered By Our Insurance. Because we are
disseminating information, we may face liability for the nature and content of the materials on our web site or on
sites to which we have links. These lability claims could include, among others, claims for defamation, negligence,
indecency, fraud from secondary sales, and copyright, patent and trademark infringement. These claims have been
brought, and sometimes successfully pressed, against online services. Although we intend to maintain general
liability insurance coverage, it may not cover claims of these types. It also may not be adequate to indemnify us for
any liability that may be imposed. Any imposition of liability, particularly liability that is not covered by insurance
or is in excess of insurance coverage, could have a material adverse effect on our reputation and our ability to
effectively operate our web site. ‘

Forward Looking Information Regarding Liguidity and Capital Resources

Our Stock Price Has Been And May Continue To Be Very Volatile, Which May Make Us A Target Of Securities
Class Action Litigation. The market price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be highly
volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. In the past, securities class action litigation often has been brought
against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. We are currently the target
of such litigation and may be the target of additional litigation in the future. Securities litigation could result in
substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and other resources.

Other factors, some of which are beyond our control, that could cause the market price of our common stock to
fluctuate include:

s operating results that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;
e changes in securities analysts’ and investors’ expectations as to our future financial performance;
o changes in market valuations of other Internet or online services companies;

» announcements by us or our competitors of technological innovations, new services, significant contracts,
acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

e loss of a major venue or client;

= announcements by third parties of significant claims or proceedings against us or developments in those
proceedings; and

= future sales of our stock.

We Are Obligated To Redeem Our Preferred Stock In 2006 and 2007 And May Not Have Sufficient Financial
Resources To Do So. We are obligated to redeem our Series F Preferred Stock and Series G Preferred Stock in 2006
and 2007, respectively. We do not currently have sufficient financial resources to make those redemption payments
and we may not generate sufficient funds from our operations or be able to obtain replacement financing on
reasonable terms, or at all, before such redemption dates.
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We Face Risks From International Operations That Could Adversely Affect Our Cash Flow And Licensing
Revenues. We have only recently commenced operations in a number of international markets and a key component
of our strategy is to expand our business internationally. Gur plans to expand internationally are subject to inherent
risks, including:

°  Adverse Fluctuations In Currency Exchange Rates Could Expose Us To Losses Because Some Of Our
Contracts And Liabilities Are Payable In Foreign Currencies. Payments due to our acquisition of
dataCulture, Ltd. are payable in pounds sterling over 12 equal quarterly installments. In addition, we are also
exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risks inherent in our assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than the United States dollar. If the United States dollar becomes weaker against foreign
currencies these payments will be greater in dollar terms and our cash flow would be adversely affected.

o [f We Cannot Adequately Enforce Our [ntellectual Property Rights Internationally, We May Lose Licensing
Revenues. Many of our foreign business relationships involve the licensing of our software products. If we
are unable to enforce our intellectual property rights because they are not recognized under foreign laws, our
customers could duplicate or modify our software products without our consent and deprive us of licensing
revenues.

Inflation and Foreign Currency Risk

Inflation has not had a significant impact on our operations during the periods covered by the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. Additionally, we are not presently subject to significant foreign exchange risk as
international operations curfently constitute a minor part of our operations. However, some of the recent companies
we have acquired have operations internationally that could subject us to inflation and foreign currency risks in the
future. If we are affected by inflation or foreign currency fluctuations in the countries where we will have
operations, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141 “Business
Combinations” which addresses financial accounting and reporting for business combinations and supersedes
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 16, “Business Combinations”, and SFAS No. 38, “Accounting for
Preacquisition Contingencies of Purchased Enterprises”. SFAS No. 141 requires that all business combinations and
acquisitions be accounted for based on fair value of assets exchanged under the purchase method, separate
recognition of intangible assets apart from goodwill when these assets meet certain criteria and additional disclosure -
of the primary reasons for a business combination and the allocation of the purchase price paid to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by major balance sheet captions. The provisions of SFAS No. 141 apply to all business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. We have adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 as of July 1, 2001.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” which addresses
financial accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets and supersedes APB No. 17,
“Intangible Assets”. Under the provisicns of SFAS No. 142, acquired goodwill and other intangible assets will be
aggregated with a company’s existing operating units and evaluated for impairment. These assets will be tested for
impairment at least annually using a two-step process that begins with an estimation of the fair value of the reporting
unit. Intangible assets that have finite useful lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS No.
142 also requires additional disclosures of information related to the changes in carrying amounts of goodwill and
other intangible assets from period to period in the aggregate by reportable segment and asset class for those assets
subject to amortization and for those not subject to amortization. It also requires that the estimated intangible asset
amortization expense for the next five years be disclosed. The provisions of SFAS No, 142 are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001 with early application permitted for entities with fiscal years beginning
after March 15, 2001. SFAS No. 142 is required to be applied at the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year and to be
applied to all goodwill and other intangible assets recognized in its financial statements at that date. Impairment
losses for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets that arise as a result of the initial application of SFAS No.
142 are to be reported as resulting from a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 142 further requires that all
goodwill and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001 will be subject immediately to its non-amortization and
amortization provisions. We will adopt SFAS No. 142 for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2002. Goodwill
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amortization for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $8.1 million. In 2002, we would have expected the
amortization of goodwill to remain consistent with that of 2001.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS 143
addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible assets and the
associated asset retirement costs. It applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of assets that result
from the acquisition, construction, development and/or the normal operation of a asset, except for certain obligations
of lessees. SFAS 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the
period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the asset. SFAS 143 is effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002 (with earlier application being encouraged). We do not expect the
adoption of SFAS 143 to have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Assets.” SFAS
144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of assets. SFAS 144 supersedes
SFAS No. 121, *“Accounting for the Impairment of Assets to Be Disposed Of,” and the accounting and reporting
provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” for the
disposal of a segment of a business (as previously defined in that Opinion). The provisions of SFAS 144 are
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, with early application
encouraged and generally are to be applied prospectively. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 144 to have a
material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

We are not exposed to material market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates. We do not utilize interest rate
swaps, forward or option contracts on foreign currencies or commodities, or other types of derivative financial
instruments. Some of our contracts and liabilities are payable in foreign currencies. Accordingly, we are subject to
exposure from adverse movement in foreign currency exchange rates. This exposure is primarily related to revenue
and operating expenses in the United Kingdom and in Canada and denominated in their respective local currency.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See the index included at “Item 14, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K”,
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants On Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

PART Il

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K is the information required by this Item 10 contained in the sections
entitled “Election of Directors” and “Executive Compensation and Other Information” contained in our definitive
proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2001.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K is the information required by this Item 11 contained in the section

entitled “Executive Compensation and Other Information” contained in our definitive proxy statement, to be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2001.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K is the information required by this Item 12 contained in the section
entitled “Ownership of Securities” contained in our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2001.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trdnsactions

Incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K is the information required by this Item 13 contained in the section
entitled “Related Party Transactions” contained in our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2001.

PART IV
Item 14, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports On Form 8-K

(a) Documents filed as part of this Report:

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
“Financial Statements” are filed as part of this FOrm 10-K ....cccccoriiinrininriiniierne it veesnene F-1

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying ACCOUNES.........cvivieririiriini et E-1
All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or the information
is included in the consclidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. EXHIBITS
An “Exhibit Index” is filed as part of this Form 10-K ........c.voriimecrecirictrirreieee s esesese e E-2

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

1. On March 18, 2002, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting under Items 1, 5 and 7, the execution of
a stock purchase agreement by and among us and General Atlantic Partners 74 L.P., GAP Coinvestment
Partners II, L.P. and GapStar, LLC providing for the sale by us of our Series G Senior Cumulative
Redeemable Convertible Participating Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase our Common Stock

2. On March 29, 2002, we filed a current report on Form 8-K reporting under Items 1 and 7, the execution of a
letter agreement with General Atlantic 74 L.P. providing for a loan to us of $1.0 million in exchange for a
senior promissory note.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Costa
Mesa, State of California, on the 26th day of March 2002.

TICKETS.COM, INC.

By: /s/ RONALD BENSION
Ronald Bension
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the
following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signatures Title Date

/s/_W. THOMAS GIMPLE Co-Chairman of the Board March 26, 2002
W. Thomas Gimple

/s/ _C. AN SYM-SMITH Co-Chairman of the Board March 26, 2002

C. Ian Sym-Smith
/s/ RONALD BENSION Chief Executive Officer and Director March 26, 2002
Ronald Bension (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ ERIC P. BAUER Chief Financial Officer March 26, 2002
Eric P. Bauer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/__NICHOLAS E. SINACORI Director March 26, 2002

Nicholas E. Sinacori

/s/ BRADENR. KELLY Director March 26, 2002
Braden R. Kelly
Director March 2002
J. L. Davies
/s/ _THOMAS HEYMANN Director March 26, 2002

Thomas Heymann
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To Tickets.com, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tickets.com, Inc., formerly Advantix, Inc., (a
Delaware Corporation), and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principies used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Tickets.com, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Cur audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial statements taken
as a whole. The supplemental Schedule II as shown on page E-1 is the responsibility of the Company’s management
and is presented for purposes of complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and is not part of
the basic consolidated financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audits of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly states in all material respects the
financial data required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a
whole.

/s ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
Orange County, California
March 25, 2002
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TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2001 2000
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash EQUIVAIEIES ....coveveereeeirecineriercaeneesrereee et e st iae s seese st sbassesaanseneanes $ 8,779 $ 19,926
RESHICEA CASH . ..veiuiirieciirteeeete et re s st cr et s s et e e s e s s e aesebe et en e seansesesansennren 2,552 100
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,824 and $1,996 .......coovvervveeceveirieeerrennnnnn. 3,058 9,071
INOLE TECEIVADIE ... ceiictiiecteeciteeette et e e e ves et s s e b s s st e sare s srvaestne e e vabassssbesnnanas 1,850 1,950
Prepaid expenses and Other CUITENT ASSES ...c.vvceeiviereeiriererericrninecreressestessereescseeseenenee 7.966 20,004
TOtAl CUITENT ASSEES .uuvrrrreriieiervrererereiieescesiestrsereeseasssssretesssessasssseersssssretssessessienarssnees 25,105 51,051
Property and eqQUIPMENT, NEL ......ovviiieiviciiriciicicriiccriierceectcreeccrees e e ntecae e nes 14,517 16,920
Goodwill and intangible assets, Net......coeveerveeeirceccnuerennns et teeeee e ————ear e —rattarereaeaesos 40,504 48,604
OHET ASSETS 11uvvrererreriseeaereteseee st eresetreenetoseesbatesassasresesesae e asseesbaassesaessrenaraesasnessnseseessreens 4,291 14,841
TOLAL BSSEES ..vveveriererierereriereresereaeueseastesssaesbesrasestesaessebesessestesanssstesessnssesseassessensasesnnans $ 84417 $ 131416
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHCLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOURNES PAYADIE.....ccciviiiiiieriiiereer et ettt sr et ees § 12320 § 11,713
ACCTUEA 1ADILIIIES ..o it re st cmete s e et ee s e ee e eanbassseassessss s sosarsnssenssesnnnaeeos 4,660 8,970
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations.......ccccvevvieicrsicrcnncnnnen. 987 2,634
Deferred revenue and other current Habilities ......oceeieriiirieieiinc e 3,440 2.758
TOtal CUTENT HHADIIITIES vvveiirriee e seies e cerree et e esenr e ervereesbeesvessreeeesaressseneaesnrareseevenss 21,407 26,075
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of current poOrtion.........ccecevveereenrerenes 249 1,406
Oher HADIHIIES 1oveiiiveeierieiiiesie st strirreetebestasees e veessasnestessrs e sasesessbesssesassnessesesnsesseansans 701 1.589
TOtAl TADIIIHES . .ccveevreveevireieivrieceee sttt et ebe s e e et e stsesmass e saeameenanane C 22,357 29,070
MINOLIEY IIMEEIESE ..ovveviiiie et iterit s ettt e bbbt r e et et s s e csstaeaee b2 reeassesmnsennens — 327
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)
Series F Senior Cumulative Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, $.000225 par
value; 28,333 shares authorized, issued and outstanding in 2001, none in 2000,
liquidation preference: $17,842 ...ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 17,206 —
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.000225 par value; 225,000 shares authorized; 7,535 and 7,410
Shares issued and outstanding, 2001 and 2000, respectively ......cccovvveninccrinineniiennnn. 2 2
Additional paid-in CAPItAL ......cvieoeeeeiiiciieeetrtetei ettt e s e 323,404 323,047
AcCCUMMUALEd AETICIE. eruuiireeriecreiiee e eerere et rs e e e e st e s sraesr e rae e st srae et sreesenenstasnsensen (278,039) (220,856)
L83531e-] g (ST F O OO OO OO S SSRTOTPOR (279) —
Cumulative other comprehensive 10SS ......civeiierienrnience et et (234) (174)
Total stockholders’ eqUILY ..c.cvvievviicrii e 44.854 102.019
Total lHabilities and .....cvvececvriir ittt en e s e
SLOCKNOLIAETS” EQUILY cvvevrrrreerrverisreeinreresteresreesesssse e seeeessseresssssstesesonessessnnssessssnssernasasn $ 84417 $ 131,416

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,

F-3




TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
REVEIUE . c.vevvievvireteerreeeeeteecttevts ettt enesebes s stesrtesasebsets s et e et s sssnestbesatssabessassssonares $ 56,131 $ 58,670 $ 45917
COSE Of SETVICES .1uieuiireriiitireeiesiee sttt sttt st e et sar b st sa e e see s 32,136 37.651 30,100
GTOSS PIOfIt. s crererieererirerirtire ettt se e s e e senr e ne 23.995 21.019 15.817
Operating expenses:
Sales and mMarketing ......cccccecereerriiiiniiee e 19,290 39,401 34,722
Technology development ........coccervreeenerninienris e 10,408 13,901 12,548
General and admINIStrAtIVE...c.ccviriec e eesieresre e e s enesstresanes 26,385 30,678 18,541
Amortization Of INtANZIDIES.....cccovveerrrereriereeserieiri s e sre et esaesrre e esanne 9,546 9,799 7,268
ReStructuring Charge ....oveeveeieerereeciirecerretrerere e esacesersressrenaseosanareesvensns (2,669) 35,124 —
IMpaIrment Of ASSELS.....cccirieiirerririrere ittt e s 17,952 — —
Purchased in-process research and development..........cocceveerveevrnncnerenne. — — 5,340
Total OPETALING EXPENSES .oiveriiierririirerrvsie e et eeese s s e s sesvene 80,912 128.903 78.419
LSS fTOM OPETALIONS ...vveveuveneereriieriereeerenrenreiterr ettt se b e se e seenes (56917) (107.884) __(62.602)
Other income (expense):
ORI INCOME 1ot cereeeccrree s es sttt e s e saaas s cebsteessstaasssssarenesasesessssnesssssnns 722 2,988 2,209
OHhEr EXPEIISES ..veueetireeerrreerereesessessresaeseesssseareassersreseestensissassnsesessensansesses (275) (716) (2,958)
MINOTILY INETEST.uieviiiieeteseie st ettt et e sree v esaessaobesanene 241 (10) (137)
Total other iNCOME (EXPENSE) «..ueeveeruemreereenreniirriienire s ertesresresveseenene 688 2,262 _(886)
Loss before provision for income taxes and extraordinary item..........c.cev..... (56,229) (105,622) (63,488)
Provision for INCOME TaXES .....vierrerercrereeserieeneeenire e sre e seesesveeaes 111 107 29
Net loss before extraordinary item ......eeceeveerceneecenriesceseseerereienrree e evaes (56,340) (105,729) (63,517)
Extraordinary item — loss on early retirement of debt........ccoceviinieneneens — — (3.083)
INET OSS ettt sttt ettt et st ebe et a et sbe st en e ne et sbnenaesba e eeranen (56,340) (105,729) (66,600)
Preferred StoCKk divIAENAS ...covvviicvveeicciei vttt et eree s e (705) — —
Accretion of preferred stock 1SSUANCE COSLS ...ovvevuerirceiriirenrienerereneereesaireeens (137 — —
Net loss available to common shareholders ..o $ (57.182) § (105,729) 3 (66.600)
Basic and diluted loss per share:
Net loss available to common shareholders before extraordinary item ..... $ (770) $ (14.43) $ (27.05)
Net loss available to common shareholders from extraordinary item........ — — (1.3
Net loss available to common shareholders..........ccovvevveeecvvrevieeeee e, § (70 $  (14.43) § (28.36)
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic and diluted.......... 7,426 1,327 2,348

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31
2001 2000 1999
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEELOSS e eevirieiete ettt s s e s st s sas e e st ke st e st e b e ne et eneene $ (56,340) $ (105,729) $ (66,600)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
RESINUCIUTING CHATZE 1ocivieviereriirenrirrcrscaniecririnscesnecaercaneessessensecssessesssersnsnens {2,669) 35,124 —
Impairment of AsSets......coveiiiiiioiiiinrie it 17,952 — —
Purchased in-process research and development...........ccccvervieecnne. rrecereenaes — — 5,340
Depreciation and amortization of intangibles............cccovvvecmrrvvivercrrirennen. 17,356 16,156 11,203
Bad debt 8XPense.. .. oot 2,566 1,823 150
IMINOTILY ITEETES.evevivieeteeereetereee ettt st s sesesr st s etenae (327) 10 137
INONCASH EXPEMSES .eeovtiriirecirieieierieeeies e reercen et ea e sre bttt sn e bssvessesennesseanean 2,418 6,696 7,363
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: :
RECEIVADIES ..eiiitiiiieiiiece et creee s rtre st sae st e stae st s s sabes s sbbestseeesnaenen 2,925 (5,120) (3,270)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets.....c.vevvvivvceiveneninnneiesneniecnens 222 (1,234) (13,819)
OHRET ASSELS wuvviiiiierirriierieeerereree s erresestreeetbresteeeseessbasesaee s sbnraessraeensnaessreesan — (329) (16,071)
ACCOUNLS PAYADIE c.vveveriirierericeie e ettt sb e e ne 608 (6,559) 3,310
Accrued HabilEs «..ovvieveiii ettt s (1,641) (807) (1,753)
Deferred revenue and other iabilities .......occvvereveecinierniesienieseneecencsreserenens 5 (2.280) 1.950
Net cash used in operating aCtivities .....c.cccevirereeriereniesierireeneesessneseene (16,925) (62,249) (72.060)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and eqUIPMent........cocovcverinerennerinenereeneneetsne o (5,407 (9,555) (4,703)
Purchase of [ong-term inVesStmMent.....c.covirrrinnicnnien e —_ (1,500) —_
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash .....ooovviiiiiiiiiiiii s (2,452) (100) 168
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired.........cccoiviiniiininn — (1,100) (11,805)
Net cash used in investing aCtiVIIES......ccevueriererierreniinineiiere oo (7.859) (12,255) (16,340)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of 1ong-term debt ......cccvvvverivienieeriirennieereneesscrneenns —_ _ 2,318
Principal payments on long-term debt.........cocoevirioiiiiiiniiciniccicnicncins (2,804) (2,619) (25,590)
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred Stock ......ccvveeniiniiincinncciininnnns 16,474 — 111,788
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock through an initial public
OFFEIINE vttt srte s et a e et bt e re e re e araeeane e seesnes — — 80,396
OFFICET 10AN 1ovviieiieeie ettt et e e e sbbe s b e asne e e senaranes (279) — —_
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, options and warrants..............c..... 246 2,876 1.205
Net cash provided by financing aCtiVities .....cccovvvvecreiencsmcrnernierinenenrenees 13.637 257 170,617
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents........ccocvvivrievcrerinnnnnninns (11,147) (74,247) 82,217
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year....c.c..coveevnveeniisneneseeniirene 19,926 94,173 11,956
Cash and cash equivalents, end of Year........c.cccvveeeniiiincnccne e $ 8779 3 19926 $ 94,173
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
INterest Paid......covveicenivciiiiiii e s S 253 § 261 § 2,603
INCOME tAXES PAIA....veorierriricceirteieri it ser et a et e e sbanesrenenaaee $ 61 § 4 8 29
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH
INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital lease obligations entered into for equIpment ........cceeveecirervncerennenn $ — 3 2070 § 918
Accretion on redeemable common stock warrants issued in connection
with financing arrangements .....co.ceevieiereiieninre vt $ — 5 — $ 447
The following table outlines the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and cash
paid: ’
Fair value of assets aCqUITEd .eovruvvcirveesieciiriresiecsssseene st st sisssressstanesesnss $ — $ 1,100 $ 94,448
Cash advances to acquired COMPANIES ....cruvererrierrirrcriorinrierirreereeeeesiereeeees — -— 6,980
Less:
Liabilities aSSUMEU . uiiiviiiiienieeriirieieriee et n oo sebe e erare st veessaaes s regananes ' —_ — (16,702)
Promissory notes to sellers, net of diSCOUNE ....ccevveererccriiemierriierceaeneenen. — — (1,606)
Preferred StOCK 1SSUEM. uuiiriiiiiiririieiiesieene st ie e rirte e s tre s s sve e are e erenae s —_ — (18,377)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS QF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(in thousands)

PR TR

Year Ended December 31
2001 2000 1999
- COMMON StOCK ISSUEA.vverviverirririeeeieeeresreeireenisrete e eaetssererese st sersssobesosnens —_ — (45,761)
I Redeemable common StOCK iSSUEQA.......ovvieviveeiriiirieeiieiciee e eerre e e sane e — — (4,676)
] Cash PAId....veeireiiereeerteeereee ettt e st a et e e e s et e — 1,100 14,306
4 Cash aCQUITEd .....oveerreerieree s e snre et evee e srerbe s rr e s e trerree e enseeneees — — (2.501)
] Cash paid, net of cash aCqUIred........cecvevuirevriericeireernierieree e $ — $ 1,100 $ 11.805

The Company will satisfy its preferred dividend requirements by either the issuance of common stock or cash. Such
accrued dividend requirements totaled approximately $0.7 million from the date of issuance of the preferred stock
through December 31, 2001. .

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2001 and 2000

1. Description of Business

Tickets.com, Inc. (“Tickets.com”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Bay Area Seating Service, Inc. (“BASS™),
ProTix, Inc. (“ProTix™), TicketsLive Corporation (“TicketsLive”), dataCulture, Ltd. (“dataCulture”) and Lasergate
Systems, Inc. (“Lasergate”), collectively (the “Company”, “Tickets.com”, “we”, or “our”), is a leading business-to-
business ticketing solutions provider. As an infrastructure enabler and a systems and services provider we facilitate
the sale of tickets for venues and entertainment organizations with proprietary and cutting edge software, call
centers, interactive voice response systems and retail outlets. We build private label ticketing gateways to enable
live entertainment organizations with an e-commerce distribution platform. Our automated ticketing solution is used
by thousands of entertainment organizations such as leading performing art centers, professional sport organizations
and various stadiums and arenas in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Australia, Latin America, and Asia.

We were incorporated in Delaware in January 1995 as The Entertainment Express, Inc. We commenced business
operations in May 1996. In December 1996, we changed our name to Advantix, Inc., and in May 1999, we changed
our name to Tickets.com, Inc.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes include the accounts of Tickets.com, Inc.
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany account balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. The results of operations of each acquired business have been consolidated for all periods subsequent
to the date of acquisition.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principals generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Comprehensive Loss

Differences between net loss as reported and comprehensive loss are.related to foreign currency translation
adjustments. A reconciliation of comprehensive loss is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000
INELLOSS vttt ettt e sttt et ebebescmneaneas $ (56,340) $ (105,729)
Foreign currency translation adjustment «....c.ceeeeevereeereenrinnnienrenones (60) (154)
Comprehensive 10SS....c.ieiiiiniii e $ (56.400) $ (105.883)

Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSCOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2001 and 2000

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consist primarily of various compensating balances at various banks. All compensating balances
expire within 120 days, except for the requirement to renew $1.0 million every 90 days with our primary banking
institution.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We are subject to concentration of credit risk related to accounts receivable. Accounts receivable consists
primarily of extended credit to corporate customers, credit card merchant processors and retail ticketing outlets. No
client accounted for more than 6% of total net revenues during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999.

Note Receivable

On September 30, 1999, we entered into a note with China Basin Ballpark Company LLC in connection with our
ticketing services agreement with the San Francisco Giants. There 1s no interest rate associated with this note. This
note matures on January 1, 2008. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the amount of unpaid principal outstanding on
this note was $1.8 million and $2.0 million, respectively.

Long-lived Assets

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of three to five years or, for leasehold improvements,
over the term of the lease if shorter. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed and any gain or loss is reflected in results of operations.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Intangible assets consist primarily of the portion of the purchase price of
businesses acquired allocated to existing technology, customer relationships, trade names, assembled workforce, and
noncompete agreements. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net identified assets acquired
in business combinations accounted for under the purchase method.

Impairment of Assets. We assess the recoverability of our assets on an annual basis or whenever adverse events
or changes in circumstances or business climate indicate that expected undiscounted future cash flows related to
such assets may not be sufficient to support the net book value of such assets. If undiscounted cash flows are not
sufficient to support the recorded assets, impairment is recognized to reduce the carrying value of the assets to the
estimated fair value. Cash flow projections, although subject to a degree of uncertainty, are based on trends of
historical performance and management’s estimate of future performance, giving consideration to existing and
anticipated competitive and economic conditions. Additionally, in conjunction with the review for impairment, the
remaining estimated lives of certain assets are assessed.

Revenue Recognition

We primarily generate revenue from per ticket service fees charged directly to consumers who order tickets
through our web site, call distribution centers, interactive voice response or retail outlets. In addition, we charge a
handling fee to consumers for all tickets sold by us, other than through retail outlets. We recognize service fee and
handling fee revenue from ticket sales at the time the sale is made. From time to time, we enter into contracts with
clients whereby we pay a portion of the clients’ share of convenience fees up front. When this occurs, the up front
fees are amortized against revenue over the period of the contract under the terms of the underlying contracts.
Additionally, we may collect fees from the consumer on behalf of our clients and such fees are not recorded as
revenue.
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TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2001 and 2000

Additionally, we generate revenue from license and support fees charged to licensees of our in-house systems
products. Revenue is recognized on sales contracts when the following conditions are met: a signed contract is
obtained, delivery has occuired, the total sales price is fixed and determinable, collectibility is probable, and any
uncertainties with regard to customer acceptance are resolved. Deferred revenue consists primarily of maintenance
and support contracts which is recognized as it is earned over the term of the agreement.

Revenues and expenses from transactions involving the exchange of services for non-cash consideration are
valued at the fair market value based on the amount that would be charged on a cash basis and by comparing such
amounts to what other third parties pay for such services. Revenues and expenses from these transactions are
recognized in accordance with the established guidelines related to the type of the underlying revenue or expense.

We additionally generated ticketing services revenues through the auction of venues’ and performers’ tickets on
our web site. Under those types of arrangements, we generally purchased, at face value, any unsold tickets that were
allocated for auction on our web site. If we were unable to sell these tickets, or sell them at less than face value,
losses were incurred on the tickets purchased. The gross value of the sale of these tickets was recorded as revenues.
The amount paid for the tickets, amounts paid to performers venues or charities, and the costs of delivering the
tickets to the consumers were recognized as cost of services. Pursuant to current ticket auction contracts with certain
entertainers, certain amounts collected above the face value were donated to a charity of the performer’s choice, the
amounts donated are also included as cost of services. As of May 2000, we no longer provided auction services.

In connection with two of our ticketing service agreements, we have made payments to the venues for certain
exclusivity and other ticketing services rights granted over the term of the applicable agreement. We have, in the
past, recorded these payments as prepaids and have amortized these payments to advertising expense over the term
of the applicable contract. The unamortized balance of these payments is $4.0 million at December 31, 2001. In
2001, we adopted Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-22, “Accounting for “Points” and Certain
Other Time-Based or Volume-Based Sales Incentive Offers, and Offers for Free Products or Services to be
Delivered in the Future” which changed the accounting for these types of payments. EITF Issue No. 00-22 requires
that the amortization be recorded as reduction or offset to revenue. In connection with the adoption, we have
recorded $0.5 million in fiscal year 2001 as an offset to revenue and were required to reclassify the amounts
reported in prior periods. The impact in fiscal year 2000 was to reduce revenue by $0.5 million and the impact in
1999 was immaterial. :

Cost of Services

Cost of services includes expenses related to the distribution and delivery of tickets. These expenses include
primarily payroll related to call centers and distribution personnel, telecommunications, data communications and
commissions paid on tickets distributed through retail outlets.

Additionally, cost of services includes costs related to the installation and support of our in-house systems,
mainly consisting of payroll and travel services related costs, and the cost of hardware and software that we resell to
our licensees.

Income Taxes

We apply the asset and liability method in recording income taxes, under which deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are determined, based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using currently enacted tax rates and laws. Additionally, deferred tax assets are
evaluated and a valuation allowance is established if it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax
asset will not be realized.
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TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2001 and 2060

Net Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution
that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common
stock or result in the issuance of common stock that would then share in the earnings of the Company. Potentially
dilutive securities are excluded from our calculation of diluted loss per share since their inclusion would be
antidilutive.

Stock-based Compensation

We have elected to follow the intrinsic value method of accounting for our employee stock options rather than
the alternative fair value method. Compensation expense relative to our employee stock options is measured based
on the intrinsic value of stock options at the date of grant and recognized over the vesting period of the option. The
fair value method recognizes the fair value of stock options granted at the date of grant in earnings over the vesting
period of the options. A pro forma disclosure of the impact of applying this fair value method is included in Note 17,
“Employee Benefit Plans.”

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141 “Business Combinations” which addresses financial accounting and reporting for
business combinations and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB”’) No. 16, “Business Combinations”, and
SFAS No. 38, “Accounting for Preacquisition Contingencies of Purchased Enterprises”. SFAS No. 141 requires that
all business combinations and acquisitions be accounted for based on fair value of assets exchanged under the
purchase method, separate recognition of intangible assets apart from goodwill when these assets meet certain
criteria and additional disclosure of the primary reasons for a business combination and the allocation of the
purchase price paid to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed by major balance sheet captions. The provisions of
SFAS No. 141 apply to all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. We have adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 141 as of July 1, 2001.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” which addresses
financial accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets and supersedes APB No. 17,
“Intangible Assets”. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, acquired goodwill and other intangible assets will be
aggregated with a company’s existing operating units and evaluated for impairment. These assets will be tested for
impairment at least annually using a two-step process that begins with an allocation of goodwill to our business
segments and then we estimate the fair market value of the reporting business segment. Intangible assets that have
finite useful lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS No. 142 also requires additional
disclosures of information related to the changes in carrying amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets from
period to period in the aggregate by reportable business segment and asset class for those assets subject to
amortization and for those not subject to amortization. It also requires that the estimated intangible asset
amortization expense for the next five years be disclosed. The provisions of SFAS No. 142 are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001 with early application permitted for entities with fiscal years beginning
after March 15, 2001. SFAS No. 142 is required to be applied at the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year and to be
applied to all goodwill and other intangible assets recognized in its financial statements at that date. Impairment
losses for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets that arise as a result of the initial application of SFAS No.
142 are to be reported as resulting from a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 142 further requires that all
goodwill and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001 will be subject immediately to its non-amortization and
amortization provisions. We will adopt SFAS No. 142 for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2002. Adoption could
produce a significant impairment in 2002. Goodwill amortization for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $8.1
million. In 2002, we would have expected the amortization of goodwill to remain consistent with that of 2001.
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In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS 143
addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible assets and the
associated asset retirement costs. It applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of assets that result
from the acquisition, construction, development and/or the normal operation of a asset, except for certain obligations
of lessees. SFAS 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the
period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the asset. SFAS 143 is effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002 (with earlier application being encouraged). We do not expect the
adoption of SFAS 143 to have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations. '

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Assets.” SFAS
144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of assets. SFAS 144 supersedes
SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Assets to Be Disposed Cf,” and the accounting and reporting
provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” for the
disposal of a segment of a business (as previously defined in that Opinion). The provisions of SFAS 144 are
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, with early application
encouraged and generally are to be applied prospectively. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 144 to have a
material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the account balances in 2000 and 1999 to be consistent with 2001
presentation.

3. Business Combinations
1999 Acquisitions

TicketStop, Inc. In March 1999, California Tickets.com, Inc. purchased all of the outstanding common stock of
TicketStop. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. The purchase was for cash consideration equaling
approximately $2.3 million, consisting of an initial cash payment of $2.2 million. Additional consideration, in the
form of a contingent cash payment of up to approximately $0.4 million was subject to TicketStop attaining a
targeted number of active clients. In September 1999, California Tickets.com entered into an amendment with the
shareholders of TicketStop whereby the parties agreed to remove the contingency behind the remaining cash
payment, which resulted in an additional cash payment of approximately $0.4 million and an equal amount of
additional goodwill. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years. The
operating results of TicketStop have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date we
acquired California Tickets.com, Inc.

TicketsLive Corporation. In April 1999, we completed the purchase of all the outstanding capital stock of
TicketsLive Corporation. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. The purchase price equaled
approximately $26.0 million, consisting of the issuance of 649,472 shares of our common stock. In addition, we
assumed all of the outstanding options to purchase TicketsLive common stock by issuing to the holders of such
options, options to purchase 72,750 shares of our common stock. During March 1999, we made a loan to
TicketsLive of $1.0 million for general working capital purposes. This loan was incorporated as an element of the
purchase price of TicketsLive upon the close of the acquisition. The acquisition of TicketsLive added a suite of in-
house systems software products licensed in the United States, Europe and Australia, to its existing family of in-
house systems. In addition, we acquired its system-to-system interface, the Transaction Application Gateway, which
facilitates the ability to sell tickets on its web site from a variety of sources. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line
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basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years. The operating results of TicketsLive Corporation have been included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition.

California Tickets.com, Inc. In April 1999, we completed the acquisition of California Tickets.com, Inc. (“CA
Tickets.com”) and in May 1999 we changed the name of the company to Tickets.com, Inc. The acquisition was
accounted for as a purchase. The purchase price equaled approximately $41.5 million, consisting of the issuance of
2,678,577, 5,782,241 and 3,928,386 shares of our Series Al convertible preferred stock, Series C convertible
preferred stock and common stock, valued at estimated fair value of $2.09, $2.21, and $4.50 per share, respectively.
In addition, we assumed all of the outstanding options to purchase CA Tickets.com common stock by issuing to the
holders of such options, options to purchase 188,418 shares of our common stock. The acquisition was accounted
for as a purchase. In March 1999, we made a $3.7 million loan for general working capital purposes to CA
Tickets.com, primarily to fund the purchase of TicketStop, Inc. This loan was incorporated as an element of the CA
Tickets.com purchase price upon the close of the acquisition. The acquisition of CA Tickets.com added some of the
most significant brand assets, including the web site address (www.tickets.com) as well as the 1-800-TICKETS
telephone number. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years. The
operating results of CA Tickets.com have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of the
acquisition.

dataCulture,Ltd. In August 1999, we purchased all of the outstanding capital stock of dataCulture, Lid., a private
limited company incorporated under the laws of England. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. The total
purchase price was Pound Sterling 4.0 million, or the equivalent of approximately $6.5 million as of the acquisition
date. The purchase price is payable Pound Sterling 3.0 million at the closing of the acquisition and Pound Sterling
1.0 million payable in 12 equal quarterly installments commencing December 31, 1999. The acquisition of
dataCulture added another product to the family of in-house systems, an expanded presence in the United Kingdom,
and client relationships with several well-known entertainment organizations in the United Kingdom. Goodwill is
amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years. The operating results of dataCulture have
been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition.

Lasergate Systems, Inc. In December 1999, we completed the acquisition of Lasergate Systems, Inc. The
acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition of Lasergate added a suite of products to the family of
in-house systems, we additionally entered into a stock purchase agreement with RBB Bank AG, the majority
shareholder of Lasergate, to purchase all of the outstanding shares of Lasergate stock held by RBB. In June 1999
RBEB sold us 5,700 shares of Lasergate preferred stock convertible into 24,818,217 shares of Lasergate common
stock in exchange for 37,475 shares of Tickets.com common stock and $0.8 million. In December 1999, under the
terms of the definitive agreement, we paid to the shareholders of record of Lasergate common stock, $0.10 per share
for an aggregate amount of $1.7 million for 15,299,428 shares of common stock and other closing fees. Between
June 1999 and December 1999, we made advances aggregating $2.3 million to Lasergate pursuant to various
promissory notes. These loans were incorporated as an element of the purchase price upon the close of the
acquisition. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years. The operating
results of Lasergate have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Purchased In-Process Research and Development. The purchased in-process research and development charges
recorded during the year ended December 31, 1999 were recorded in conjunction with the acquisitions of California
Tickets.com and TicketsLive. The amounts recorded, $3.5 million for California Tickets.com and $1.8 million for
TicketsLive, represented the estimated fair value related to incomplete projects reflecting the risk-adjusted cash
flows and the state of completion. At the date of acquisition, the projects associated with the in-process research and
development efforts had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses. Accordingly,
these costs were expensed. TicketsLive was conducting development activities associated with the completion of the
next generation of Select, TicketsLive’s automated ticketing system. The projects under development were to
increase speed and expand functionality, flexibility and reporting. California Tickets.com was in the process of
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completing customization and development of its web site and transaction processing systems. Since we already had
these systems in place, the projects, which were in varying stages of completion, were of no continuing value to us.

2000 Acquisition

CarrsTix. In June 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of CarrsTix from a Safeway Subsidiary. The
aggregate purchase price was $1.1 million. This agreement allows us to provide service in Alaska and future access
to Safeway stores in Washington, Montana and Idaho. The acquisition of CarrsTix added new client relationships
including Alaska’s top venues, which are Alaska Center for Performing Arts, the 8,700-seat Sullivan Arena/Egan
Center, the 6,500-seat Carlson Center and the University of Alaska, Anchorage. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years. The operating results of CarrsTix have been included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition. CarrsTix proforma information is immaterial.

The following pro forma consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 1999 assume that
the 1998 acquisition of Protix and the 1999 acquisitions of Lasergate, dataCulture, TicketsLive and CA Tickets.com
occurred as of January 1, 1998 (in thousands, except per share data):

1999 1998 -
PrO fOITNA TEVEIUES «eeveeeeeireerceveeiteesseesseesetssssesassonnesseesseessenas $ 52,627 $§ 51,991
Pro fOrma NEL 0SS ..vvvvereverireeeiesrereeesesressisrreeeseeeeseessesesenes $ (71,232) $ (59,073)
Pro forma basic and diluted loss per share.........oceevevricrnerennnns $ @3 $ @on

In addition, the following pro forma consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 1999
assumes that the ProTix and BASS acquisitions occurred as of January 1, 1998 (in thousands, except per share data):

1998
PrO FOITIA FEVETIUES ..vvivviivicrrecreee it st cevesesesesseasatetessasssessaesseestsestesnresnessstesstesaressasessesressans $ 35,612
Pro fOrma NEL 0SS cuviiiieiieiiiieciree st stie e e reie et eere e sbnssbes s tbesraneseress sabesessaesatsesnsnnssonnneees $ (36,526)
Pro forma basic and diluted 10ss per Share........ccccviviiniiiisivvncceni s ceene e $ (6.03)

The pro forma results include interest expense on debt issued to finance the purchases and amortization expense
of intangible assets resulting from the purchases. The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what
actually would have occurred if the acquisitions had been completed as of January 1, 1997 and 1998, nor are they
indicative of future consolidated results.

The estimated fair value of assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of the date of the acquisitions are
summarized as follows (in thousands):

1999
CA Tickets.com TicketsLive _dataCulture _Lasergate

Fair value of identified assets acquired ........... $ 5,635 $ 3,825 $1,653 § 512
Liabilities assumed ......cccoceeeveimriernrrerniereineneens (7,212) (4,867) (439) (4,184)
Goodwill at acquisition date ......coceereevereeeccenne, 39,502 25,242 5,258 7,327
Purchased in-process research &

development.. ..o 3.540 1,800 — —

Total consideration .......c..cocevveveereeerierennennens $ 41,465 $ 26,000 3 6,472

4. Extraordinary Item

In November 1999, we paid the balance of the outstanding debt with a senior lender, Provident Bank. A discount
was recorded against the balance of the note based on the fair value of the warrants issued to Provident Bank on a
periodic basis (see Note 16). The amount of the discount was being amortized on a monthly basis to interest
expense. The amount of the discount that remained as of the date the outstanding debt was paid in full was $3.1
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million, which was written off in full and reported as an extraordinary item for the quarter and year ended December
31, 1999.

5. Restructuring Charge

On June 5, 2000, the board of directors approved a restructuring plan to be executed over 15 months. The plan
redirected our business strategy, requiring a focus on our core ticketing business. This focus entailed taking
advantage of the efficiencies of the Internet while emphasizing the relationship with our clients rather than with
consumers. This was partially accomplished through an emphasis on the clients’ web site ahead of our own. This
strategy was an exit from our original Internet ticketing portal strategy. The portal strategy relied on high cost
branding efforts to drive high volume traffic to our www.tickets.com web site which would in turn support other
Internet related revenues such as web advertising, travel and merchandise sales. In addition, our software operations
focused on consolidating software code lines. Achieving our goals required continued integration of all previous
acquisitions, a reduction in workforce and a consolidation of offices including telephone sales centers.

In connection with this new strategy, we recorded restructuring charges of $35.1 million in the second quarter of
2000. The restructuring charges were comprised of $30.7 million related to the write-off of certain intangible assets,
$2.8 million related to the consolidation of facilities, $1.2 million of involuntary termination benefits and $0.4
million related to the termination of existing contracts. The write-off of certain intangible assets represented a
noncash impairment charge of long-lived assets relating to the acquisitions of CA Tickets.com, Inc. and Lasergate
Systems, Inc. We assessed the anticipated future cash flows and determined that certain of the intangible assets
resulting from the acquisitions of CA Tickets.com, Inc. and Lasergate Systems, Inc. were impaired due to the
change in business strategy. Accordingly, we reduced the carrying value of the related long-lived assets to their
estimated fair value, determined based upon a discounted cash flow method. We also reviewed the estimated lives of
certain long-lived assets which resulted in shortened lives and the acceleration of amortization expense for certain
intangible assets. The remaining carrying value of goodwill related to CA Tickets.com, Inc. and Lasergate Systems,
Inc. will be amortized over a three year period.

As a result of the restructuring, the actual total cost was $32.4 million, which resulted in an over accrual of
restructuring costs of $2.5 million related to the consolidation of facilities and $0.2 million related to involuntary
termination benefits. The total over accrual of $2.7 million was reversed in the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

6. Impairment of Assets

In the first quarter of 2001, we recorded a charge of $15.4 million for the impairment of various assets. This
charge consisted primarily of the write-down of investments that are no longer core to our business and which have
suffered other than a temporary decline in fair market value. We had determined the online marketing asset with
Excite@Home would not be fully realized and was partially written down by $13.9 million. Additionally, we wrote-
off our strategic investment in two Internet based companies, Encryptix and Campus Pipeline, of $1.5 million. This
resulted in a decrease of current assets of $7.5 million and other long-term assets of $7.9 million. In the third quarter
of 2001, Excite@Home filed for bankruptcy and we recorded an additional charge of $2.5 million for the
impairment of our remaining marketing asset with Excite@Home.

7. Business Segment Reporting

In conjunction with the restructure in 2000, we reorganized our operations into four reportable operating
segments: Ticketing Services Group (“TSG”), Internet Ticketing Group (“ITG”), International Group, and Other.
TSG focuses on delivering outsourcing solutions. ITG focuses on providing online ticketing solutions to its domestic
clients. The International Group focuses on providing online ticketing solutions to its international clients. Segment
performance measurement is based on operating income (loss) before other corporate expenses, amortization of
intangibles, restructuring charge, interest income and expense and income taxes. Other corporate expenses
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principally consist of unallocated administrative support and technology functions. All inter-segment sales and cost
of sales have been eliminated in the appropriate business segment. Assets are not allocated to specific products and
accordingly cannot be reported by segment. The business segment information for the prior years has been

reclassified.
For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(In Thousands)

Revenue

TSG ottt e $ 31,483 $ 32,724 § 27,290

ITG oottt e e sa e neas 18,133 17,308 11,164

International......coceviniv e 5,218 6,340 4,617

L@ 1117 OO TP SR 1,297 2,298 2.846
Total Segment ReVENUES ......cccevvvverinrcrccrinrecsaennens 56,131 58,670 45,917
Gross Profit

TSG et s 10,286 6,798 7,411

ITG et 9,695 9,141 5,513

Tnternational.....cc.ooveeeieemieereieienesereiereeeseresanee 2,839 3,326 2,433

1011113 OO OO USS R 1.175 1.754 460
Total Gross Profit.....ccccccveiveeiiieeinieeeniiescreessiienneens 23,995 21,019 15,817
Operating income/(loss)

TSG it e e ene (5,014) (13,386) (7,298)

ITG oot e s sr e etaes (313) (846) 1,646

International........cocoueeeeiiiiieececiiniee e (380) (2,247) (3,617)

L0 71 (T S OO U S UU VU UU PSR UUSRUR 1.115 (16.412) (17.338)
Total Segment Operating Loss ....cccceviiiinniniicnennnns (4,592) (32,891) (26,607)
Unallocated administrative support and

technology functions .........coveveveveenenniinseenceenrennen. (27,496) (30,070) (23,387)
Amortization of intangibles..........cevvrveverierenverinens (9,546) (9,799) (7,268)
Restructuring charge.......ocovveeveeccneennniniencniiennene 2,669 (35,124) —_—
Impairment of @SSEIS.....cccereerimrreerienrrereererceineene (17,952) — —
Purchased in-process research and development..... — — (5.340)
LosS from Operations .......c.ovceevveinveneeneninreseneens $ (56,917) $ (107.884) § (62,602)

8., Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

Useful Lives 2001 2000
COMPULET EQUIPITIENL c.vvevevereerrrrrereeseresesessrrsasecrmresesessasasens 3years § 22545 § 21474
Furniture and fIXTUTES .uvvvviiioiniiiiiiiiineeeeeeeecesrrenreeee e sentannens 3 years 6,245 3,581
SO EWATE . ctvvvieei ettt enntr e re s e s e s e ae s s sasannees 3 years 8,704 7,528
Leasehold Improvements.......covcciveniiniierninenssnnsnnenns 3 -5 years 1,529 1,184
VERICIES ..cviriiviriiienii e 3 years 105 126
39,128 33,893
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization ..... (24.611) _ (16.973)
Property and equipment, Net.......cccovumveireriirorrisineneennns $ 14517 $ 16920

Total depreciation and amortization expense was $7.8 million, $6.4 million and $4.0 million, for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.
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9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

Useful Lives 2001 2000

GOOAWILL..vviiiieeieirireertreerer e e sreesbeeerar e rraeenee e 3to 10 years $ 38,724 § 38,724
Existing technology ....ccccoviiiccmniniiciininiieninecninnns 5 years 11,410 11,410
Customer relationships ....cooveevenievenrniiinenicninene 10 years 7,541 7,541
TTade NAIMNES vevvveeriireirirnreeerrerisirirsrrrereresarsrestessiosssren 20 years 7,740 7,740
Assembled workforce.......ooovvrniciniiieciniccnne 10 years 2.337 2,337
67,752 67,752
Less — accumulated amortization ........ocoveeveceeerennas (27.248) _ (19.148)
Goodwill and intangible assets, net........ecceecvrnneeeee. $ 40,504 $ 48,604

10. Other Assets

Other assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

2001 2000
PrEPaIdS ... vuerreriieiere ettt srssr ettt nen e $ 4,033 $ 13,067
Long-term deposits.....cocvviiieiiniiiecinr it 258 —
OHNET ettt st e st reaee st e s bt e e b e sne e e e e sb s e s bt e s b e s nsaasebensnabassnsnaess — 1,774
o] 7.1 U et b ettt et bR esa e b ananes $ 4291 $_14.841

11. Accounts Payable

Accounts payable consisted of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

2001 2000
Accounts payable, CHENES ......eevivecrernieie et eeeesreeeenaae $ 8672 § 7,802
Accounts payable, Other ......cvccvveeniiiicriii et 3.648 3911
TOMAL ...ttt ettt $12320 $§ 11,713

Accounts payable, clients represents primarily contractual amounts due for tickets sold by us on behalf of the
organizations that sponsor events.

12. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

2001 2000
Payroll and payroll related........ovveeieicriivineerorernniessnennieesennnneserensasssseenes $ 2990 $ 2,696
ACCTUEA INIETES. c.ciisirieiiirereecrtier ettt en st e nae s aresre s sene 22 28
ONET ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et st sttt 1,648 6,246
TOAY ¢ttt ettt st bbb bbb e et $ 4660 % 8,970
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13. Long-term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations consisted of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 (in
thousands):

2001 2000

Installment payment agreement in connection with directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance, bearing an interest rate of 7.52%,
payable monthly, maturing June 30, 2002 .....ccccocnnviininnioninicieniine $§ 397 § 1,150

Various capital lease obligations bearing interest ranging from 4.2%
to 33.2%, payable in monthly installments totaling approximately
$240, maturing at various dates from January 31, 2001 to September '
30, 2003 ..ot e s e b b s 839 2,890

1,236 - 4,040
LeSs — CUITENE POTHION ..cuvieuieieieceiierninitrieecieners e sas st nsae e (987) (2,634)

$ 249 § 1,406

Annual maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations for the years eﬁding December 31, 2001 are as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31:

2002ttt es e et e bR st b $ 987
2003 e et e e e re shsa bt 249
Total long-term debt and capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2001 ............ $ 1,236

14. Income Taxes

We incurred taxable losses for federal and state purposes for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and
1999. Accordingly, we did not incur any federal income tax expense for those fiscal years other than the minimum
required taxes for certain state and local jurisdictions. We are subject to minimum income taxes in various states for
each corporate entity, which is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The significant components of our net deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows (in
thousands):

2001 2000
INONAEAUCHDIE TESETVES 1ovvevvirriiniirieeriresriseeseesierestsrseesssssersenserniossensaess $ 1,262 § (148
Net operating 1085 carryforwards.........ccocveeevneiniercnencensnenssennresn e 71,695 51,023
(071175 SO P ORIt 10,343 7.277
83,300 58,152
Valuation allOWANCE ........ceviieveriiiiiriecreecrseeeeiesesseesresssaeessieessvnessseessnns (83.300) _ (58.152)
Deferred tax SSEL, NEL ..uuiivirevrrrerssrrererssireresssrerosssnesessresesesresessssnessens 3 — 3 —

As of December 31, 2001, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
approximately $215.0 million, which can be used to offset taxable income from operations through the year 2021.
Additionally, we had net operating loss carryforwards for California income tax purposes of approximately $56.9
million, which can be used to offset taxable income from operations through the year 2011.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended, imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of net
operating losses in the event of an “ownership change” of a corporation. Accordingly, a Company’s ability to use
net operating losses may be limited as prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. Events which may
cause limitations in the amount of the net operating losses that we may use in any one-year include, but are not
limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period.
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A valuation allowance is provided for the deferred tax asset when it is more likely than not that some portion of
the deferred tax asset will not be realized. We have established a full valuation allowance on the aforementioned
deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty of realization.

15, Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

We lease office space and equipment under various operating leases that expire at various dates through 2008,
Total rent expense under these operating leases was approximately $3.0 million, $3.2 million and $2.6 million for

the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 respectively. Future minimum rentals on these operating leases
are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31:

20021ttt etetet ettt e es e be et e A e e et be ke e ae e ne s e e e e s sa e aente $ 3,037
2003 ettt et et et st et e et et et e et R sateR b st enes sRas st e e ensenbereesresrenarene 2,979
2004ttt ettt st b e b s S een e b se s s s e ne e e e nerete 2,745
2005 ettt ettt ettt a et et st et bt s e e ea b et ke sae ke e aseaan saaesrabasbeastereen b et nesraane 2,011
200601 ettt sttt ae et e b b e e et et s e be s he e b e e e ens 682
TRETEATLET ...eeeevirtereeiiestere it eecsteere st e e e reessteseteseressrebaasssesatones sesnessansaensessressrersnnenes 384

Operating Agreement With Excite@Home

In connection with its investment in Tickets.com, (see Note 16) on August 4, 1999, Excite@Home entered into a
letter of intent with us, providing for certain services to be performed by Excite and certain other services to be
preformed by us. Under this agreement, we agreed to develop a co-branded section of the Excite web site and to
integrate our event information and ticket purchasing capabilities on the co-branded page and other web sites of
Excite affiliates. Pursuant to the letter of intent and in conjunction with the closing of the sale and issuance of
6,111,114 shares of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock in October 1999, we paid Excite $25.0 million for content,
advertising and distribution, and agreed to pay other additional fees to Excite over a period of three years. In
addition, under the agreement, we would receive a share of the revenue generated from the sale of advertising on the
co-branded page and also receive the benefit of targeted email services from its affiliate, MatchLogic. On September
28, 2001 At-Home Corporation, together with its subsidiaries, Excitet@Home, MatchLogic and others, filed a
petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code which, in effect, suspended the terms of
the agreement and our respective obligations to each other. The At-Home/Excite bankruptcy case remains pending.

Operating Agreement With Cox Interactive Media

On August 4, 1999, we entered into a content and distribution agreement with Cox Interactive Media, which
provided for certain development and content services to be provided by us, and other services to be provided by
Cox to us. Under this agreement, we agreed to develop a co-branded page with event content and ticketing
functionality for distribution to Cox City Sites through the Cox network, including distribution over the Excite
broadband network. The agreement also provides that we will purchase a minimum of $13.5 million in advertising
from Cox over a period of five years and that we will receive a share of the revenue generated by the sale of
advertising on the co-branded pages.

F-20




TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Ceontinued)
December 31, 2001 and 2000

Litigation

Ticketmaster Litigation. On July 23, 1999, Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Online-CitySearch filed a
lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Central District of California, case number 99-
07654WDK, seeking unspecified damages and a court order to prohibit us from, among other things, linking Internet
consumers to internal pages within Ticketmaster’s web site and using the Ticketmaster name on our web site. In
addition, the suit alleges that we engaged in other wrongful acts, such as providing false and misleading information
on its web site regarding the availability of tickets and related information on the Ticketmaster web site and taking
copyrighted information from the Ticketmaster web site for use on our web site. The suit originally sought (i) an
injunction to prohibit us from further engaging in any alleged unlawful activity, (ii) treble damages, (iii) attorneys’
fees and other unspecified damages. On September 15, 1999 we filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit. A hearing on
the motion to dismiss had been scheduled for January 2000. On January 7, 2000, Ticketmaster Corporation and
Ticketmaster Online-CitySearch filed a First Amended Complaint, which modified their previous allegations and
added two claims for unfair competition and alleged violations of the Lanham Act.

We filed a motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint and on March 27, 2000, the Court dismissed four (4) of
the six (6) claims in the Amended Complaint. Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Online-CitySearch also
filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction seeking an order precluding us from, among other things, providing links
to Ticketmaster pages. On August 10, 2000, the Court denied this motion.

In May 2000, we filed a counterclaim against Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Online-CitySearch
alleging that they have engaged in certain acts and practices that are an unlawful restraint of trade, unlawful
monopolization and attempted monopolization in violation of Federal and State antitrust laws and violation of State
unfair competition law and interference with economic advantage. Our claim seeks treble damages, punitive
damages and declaratory and injunctive relief. Ticketmaster and Ticketmaster Online have filed a motion to dismiss
our counterclaim and on September 25, 2000 the Court denied this motion.

On February 27, 2002 the United States District Court, Central District of California, Western Division issued an
order revising the framework within which to complete discovery and trial preparation. Based on the order,
September 1, 2002 was established as the date for the completion of discovery and the trial dates was set for
February 3, 2003. Discovery, including interrogatories, document production and depositions are ongoing as of this
date.

In June of 2001, we entered into a contingent fee agreement with our counsel providing that should we prevail in
the litigation, our counsel may receive fifty percent of any recovery in exchange for a deferral of continuing legal
fees.

William Branch, et. al., vs. Tickets.com, Inc., et. al. On July 10, 2001, we and certain of our, current and former
directors and officers were named in a class action pending in the federal district court in the Southern District of
New York, case number 01CV-6008. We have also been named in six other, similar cases also pending in the
federal district court in the Southern District of New York. The complaints allege that our underwriters engaged in
unlawful stock allocation and commission practices concerning our initial public offering, including alleged tie-in
arrangements with their customers. The complaints also allege that the prospectus and registration statement in our
initial public offering contained materially false and misleading statements related to underwriting fees,
commissions and other economic benefits arising from the alleged underwriter activities. The complaints allege
causes of action under Sections 11, 12(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as well as Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Similar cases have been filed against a number of other
companies and their underwriters. There has been limited activity in these cases to date.

R4 Holdings, LLC, Hill International, Inc., vs. Tickets.com, Inc., et al. On November 7, 2001, we, and certain of
our officers, directors and investors, were served with a complaint seeking damages in an unspecified amount. The
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complaint generally alleges that plaintiffs, R4 Holdings, LLC (“R4”) and Hill International, Inc.(*Hill”), both under
the direction and control of Irvin Richter, are founding shareholders of Tickets.com. The complaint further alleged
that pursuant to their investment in us, the plaintiffs were parties to a stockholder agreement and an amended and
restated investors’ rights agreement with us, which entitled R4 to appoint two members to our board of directors.
Pursuant to these agreements, R4 appointed Irvin Richter to our board. The complaint also stated that in
contemplation of our planned initial public offering, and by virtue of the investors’ rights agreement, R4 and Hill
executed lock-up agreements wherein they agreed to refrain from trading shares of our common stock for a period of
one hundred and eighty (180) days following the date of the initial public offering. Subsequent to the execution of
the lock-up agreement, the complaint alleged that the board declined R4’s nominee for its additional member to our
board of directors, and ultimately caused Irvin Richter to be removed from the board prior to the initial public
offering. The plaintiffs alleged that as a result of their loss of seats on the board, they were no longer bound by the
terms of the lock-up agreement and further, that we fraudulently induced the plaintiffs into executing the lock up
agreement. The complaint alleged that the members of our board conspired against the plaintiffs by: (i) inducing
them to execute the lock-up agreement, (ii) causing Mr. Richter’s removal from the board, (iii) from the plaintiffs
nominee to be appointed as a member of our board of directors, and (iv) from preventing the plaintiffs from being
able to trade their shares of stock in Tickets.com at the time of the initial public offering.

On March 22, 2002 the court granted our motion to dismiss this case on the basis of lack of personal jurisdiction
against the individual defendants and forum non-conveniens, a jurisdiction doctrine applicable to us. As the case was
not dismissed on its merits, it is possible that the plaintiffs will either appeal the decision or file this action in a more
appropriate jurisdiction and continue to pursue their claim.

NAP Venture Partners LLC ; PromoWest Productions, Inc., vs. Tickets.com, Inc. On September 17, 2001 we
were served with a complaint brought by NAP Venture Partners LLC and PromoWest Productions, Inc. The suit
seeks damages in an unspecified amount and asserts various causes of action including: breach of written contract,
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violation of the Unfair Competition Act and Business
and Professions Code, Section 17200 et seq. This case arises out of a prior agreement between us and the plaintiff
providing for, among other things, us to make an investment in the plaintiff, which was engaged in the development
and construction of a new venue complex in Chio, and a Ticketing Services Agreement providing for us to provide
ticketing services to the venue once completed. All investments to be made by us were tied to certain construction
milestones, to ensure that progress of the development was continuing. Following the our first scheduled payment of
funds, the plaintiff returned all sums previously paid by the us and sought to cancel the agreement, to which the we
refused. This suit followed seeking, among other things, cancellation of the agreement.

We believe these matters will not result in a material impact to our financial position or financial results,
therefore, we have not recorded a provision for these matters in our consolidated financial statements.

Ticketing Service Agreements

We have entered into agreements with terms from one to five years with clients to provide ticketing services.
The terms of certain agreements require us to make aggregate minimum annual payments, payments based on the
number of tickets sold or both for ticketing rights. Certain of these agreements require that we provide annual
advertising allowances ranging from $5,000 to $25,000. In addition, certain agreements require our commitment to
purchase agreed-upon seating for events at certain facilities. Also on occasion, we enter into marketing agreements
with our clients. We will incur an expense of $2.2 million in the vear ending December 31, 2002,

Salt Lake Organizing Committee
In December 1999, we entered into an agreement with the Salt Lake Organizing Committee (“SLOC”) to be the

Official Ticketing Services Supplier for the 2002 Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games (“Games’). Under the
terms of the agreement, we are the exclusive provider of ticketing services for the Games, including Internet, mail
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and telephone orders as well as the operation of the local and regional ticket retail outlets. Association with SLOC is
expected to generate significant brand awareness for us via a specifically designed web site, advertising as an
“official sponsor”, billboards during the Olympics, an onsite presence at the Games as well as online ticket
advertising.

We reached an agreement with SLOC that the ticketing services to be delivered by us are based on a fixed price
contract, consisting of cash payments of $3.4 million and the consideration for the marketing rights to advertise as
an official supplier of the Games. The estimated market value of this agreement is $6.5 million. In accordance with
the requirements under APB Opinion 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions” and EITF Issues 99-17,
“Accounting for Advertising Barter Transactions”, the non-cash portion of this agreement represents a barter
agreement. We recorded revenue of $1.9 million, $2.5 million, and $0.1 million for years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively. A non-cash advertising expense of $0.7 million and $0.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, relating to the barter portion of this transaction.

16. Stockholders’ Equity

On August 4, 1999 we amended and restated our certificate of incorporation increasing the total number of
authorized common shares to 225 million and increasing the total number of authorized preferred shares to 45
million.

Stock Split

In November 1999, we effected a 1-for-2.25 reverse stock split for all common shares, options and warrants. All
references in the accompanying consolidated financial staternents to the number of common shares, warrants and
options to purchase common shares, and the per share data were restated to reflect the effect of this action at that
time. Par value of all common shares was changed to $0.000225 per share. The conversion rate to common of the
preferred shares gives effect to the 1-for-2.25 split.

On June 6, 2001, our board of directors approved a one-for-eight reverse stock split that was subsequently
approved by our stockholders’ on July 11, 2001. All references in the accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements to the number of common shares and warrants and options to purchase common shares and per
share data have been restated to reflect the effect of this action. Our convertible preferred stock was not subject to
the split, however the conversion rate to common of the preferred shares gives effect to the one-for-eight reverse
stock split.

Initial Public Offering

In November 1999, we completed its IPO of our common stock $0.000225 par value per share for $100.00 per
share. The shares of common stock sold in the offering were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
on a Registration Statement Form S-1, that was declared effective on November 3, 1999. All 954,792 shares of
common stock registered under the Registration Statement were sold. Of the shares sold, 55,556 were sold by a
selling shareholder. Proceeds from the sale of those shares were not paid to us. The aggregate price of the offering
registered and sold by us was $89.9 million. After deduction of underwriting fees and other offering costs, net
proceeds to us were $80.9 million,

Convertible Preferred Stock

On May 1998, we issued 11,597,114 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock in a private placement to
various investors at $1.75 per share, for net proceeds after stock issuance costs of $20.0 million.

F-23




RS

|

.|

TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2001 and 2000

On March 22, 1999, we issued 9,477,655 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock in a private placement
with institutional investors at $2.25 per share for total proceeds net of issuance costs of $21.3 million. On May 17,
1999, we issued 3,855,680 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock in a private placement for $2.25 per share
for total proceeds net of issuance costs of $8.7 million.

The Series C and Series D convertible preferred stock had liquidation preferences, voting rights equivalent to, or
for certain matters, superior to, common stock, and did not accrue dividends unless declared by us. At the option of
the holder, each share of the Series A, Series B, Series C and Series D convertible preferred stock could be
converted into .4444 of a share of common stock based on the 1-for-2.25 reverse split of our common stock such
conversion was automatic upon the IPO.

In August 1999, we issued and sold 3,333,332 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock to Excite, Inc.
(“Excite”) and Cox Interactive Media, Inc. (“Cox Interactive Media”) for an aggregate purchase price of $30.0
million or $9.00 per share, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement. In October 1999, Excite and Cox Interactive
Media purchased 6,111,114 additional shares of the our Series E convertible preferred stock for an aggregate
purchase price of $55.0 million or $9.00 per share. The Series E convertible preferred stock had a liguidation
preference, voting rights equivalent to or for certain matters, superior to, common stock, and did not accrue
dividends unless declared by us. Based on a 1-for-2.25 reverse split of our common stock and our IPO price of
$100.00 per share, each share of Series E convertible preferred stock was converted into 0.72 of a share of common
stock.

As of the closing of the IPO in November 1999, all shares of A, B, C and D preferred stock were converted into
3,701,721 shares of common stock. No dividends were declared on convertible preferred stock.

On June 23, 2001, we sold 10,833,333 shares of our Series F Cumulative Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Stock (“Preferred Stock™) at a price per share of $0.60 for an aggregate purchase price of $6.5 million less direct
issuance costs of $0.4 million. On August 1, 2001, we sold 17,500,000 shares of Preferred Stock at a price per share
of $0.60 for an aggregate purchase price of $10.5 million less direct issuance costs of $0.2 million.

The Preferred Stock ranks senior to our Common Stock. If we pay cash dividends on our Common Stock, then
the holders of Preferred Stock (“Preferred Holders™) will be entitled to share in such dividends on a pro rata basis as
if their shares of Preferred Stock bad been converted into Common Stock. In addition, the Preferred Holders will be
paid cumulative dividends at an annual rate of (i) nine percent per annum of the Accreted Value (as defined below),
over (ii) any cash dividends paid to the Preferred Holders in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.
Such dividends accrue and compound quarterly whether or not declared by our Board of Directors, and will be
added to the Accreted Value on each such quarterly date. “Accreted Value” means $0.60 plus the amount of any
dividends added thereto.

Each share of Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the Preferred Holders into shares of Common Stock
at the conversion ratio equal to (i) the Accreted Value (plus any accrued and unpaid dividends) divided by (ii) $0.60,
subject to adjustment as provided under the antidilution adjustments described below (the “Conversion Price”).
Initially, each share of Preferred Stock was convertible into one share of Common Stock, However, as a result of our
one-for-eight reverse stock split, each eight shares of Preferred Stock became convertible into one share of Common
Stock. As of December 31, 2001, we have accrued preferred dividends in the amount of $0.7 million.

We have the right (subject to the vote of the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock as described below) to
redeem the Series F Preferred Stock as follows:

(1) If on any date after June 23, 2003, but prior to June 23, 2004, the average trading price of our Common
Stock (as reported on Nasdaq or some other major stock exchange on which our stock then trades) for the ninety
consecutive trading days immediately prior to the date in question (the “Average Trading Price”), is equal to or
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greater than 200% of the Series F Conversion Price, we will have the right to redeem in cash all, but not less than
all, of the outstanding shares of the Series F Preferred Stock at a price per share (the “Redemption Price”) equal
to the greater of (a) the Series F Accreted Value on such date or (b) the average trading price of our Common
Stock for the twenty consecutive trading days immediately prior to the redemption date multiplied by the number
of shares of our Common Stock into which the Series F Preferred Stock is then convertible.

(2) If on or after June 23, 2004, but prior to June 23, 2005, the Average Trading Price is equal to or greater
than 250% of the Series F Conversion Price, we have the right to redeem in cash all outstanding shares of the
Series F Preferred Stock at the Redemption Price.

(3) If on or after June 23, 2005, but prior to June 23, 2006, the Average Trading Price is equal to or greater
than 300% of the Series F Conversion Price, we have the right to redeem in cash all outstanding shares of Series
F Preferred Stock at the Redemption Price.

On June 23, 2006, each then outstanding share of Series F Preferred Stock will automatically convert into the
right to receive a cash payment equal to the Redemption Price.

Any holder of the Series F Preferred Stock may convert its shares of Series F Preferred Stock until we have paid
the Redemption Price.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, each holder of Series F Preferred Stock will be entitled
to be paid for each share of Series F Preferred Stock an amount equal to the Series F Accreted Value (the “Series F
Participation Payment”) and will receive the number of shares of our Common Stock to which such share of Series F
Preferred Stock is convertible at such time.

Common Stock Warrants

In connection with Senior secured notes (see Note 4), we issued a warrant to Provident Bank to purchase 22,222
shares of our. common stock at an exercise price of $.18 per share. The warrant was subject to certain antidilution
provisions and as a result, 54,581 additional shares became issuable over the term of the agreement. In 1999, the
Senior lender sold its warrants to a third party. In November 1999, concurrent with the IPO, the holder of the
warrant exercised the warrant. In January 2000, we issued 76,803 shares of common stock to the holder of the
warrant.

In connection with the acquisition of BASS, we issued warrants to purchase 166,553 shares of our common
stock to the sellers of BASS at an exercise price of $36.00 per share. The estimated fair value attributable to the
warrants was included in the purchase price calculation for BASS. The warrants are fully vested, and all warrants
were exercised upon the close of our IPC. :

In connection with the acquisition of ProTix, we issued warrants to purchase 79,746 shares of common stock to
the sellers of ProTix at an exercise price of $0.18 per share. We entered into an amendment subsequent to December
31, 1998, whereby 59,810 warrants were vested and the remaining 19,936 warrants were cancelled. The warrants
were recorded at fair market value of the underlying common stock at the time of vesting of $36.00 per share for a
total value of $2.2 million. The value of the warrants was recorded as additional purchase price related to the
acquisition of ProTix.

In May 1999, we entered into an agreement with a significant shareholder, whereby the shareholder agreed to
purchase up to an aggregate of 5,333,334 shares of convertible preferred stock for an aggregate purchase price of
$12.0 million, under certain conditions. The shares would only be purchased in the event that we require additional
capital to satisfy and discharge its obligations as they become due. The agreement expired upon the IPO. Pursuant to
the agreement, we issued to the shareholder a warrant for the purchase of up to 27,778 shares of common stock at an
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exercise price of $40.48 per share, with a term of 10 years. As of December 31, 2001, the warrants were still
outstanding.

In June 2000, we entered into an agreement with MLB Advanced Media, LP, the interactive media company of
Major League Baseball. Under the terms of the agreement, we are the new provider of online ticketing services and
e-commerce infrastructure for Major League Baseball. In connection with this agreement, we issued a warrant to
purchase 250,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price equal to $30.45 per share. The warrant is fully
vested and is first exercisable one year after the date of issuance or within six months from the date of issuance if
certain conditions are met. The warrant was valued at $4.1 million using the Black-Scholes Options Pricing Model
and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the three-year life of the contract. At December 31, 2000, the
carrying value of these warrants was $2.3 million.

Common Stock Warrants and Options for Services

In September and October 1999, we entered into various agreements with entertainment organizations and
entertainers to provide us with tickets for sale on our web site. In connection with these arrangements, we issued
41,597 warrants to purchase its common stock at $18.00 per share. The 41,597 warrants are fully vested, at
December 31, 2001, and are first exercisable one year after date of issue.

In October 1999, we issued options to purchase 20,917 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $18.00
per share to various consultants in the live entertainment industry. The options were issued in connection with their
services to promote our web site and assist in providing access to additional tickets for sale on its web site. The
options were fully vested and exercisable at the date of issuance. In connection with these options and warrants, we
recorded non-cash consulting expense of $3.9 million in 1999.

Officer Loan

On December 18, 2001, we entered into a secured, full recourse promissory note with an officer in the amount of
$279,000 for the purchase of 100,000 shares of our common stock. These shares were issued at fair market value on
that date and serve as collateral for this note. The note carries an interest rate of five percent and is due on or before
December 18, 2004. As this note was issued for the purchase of common stock, we have classified this note in the
equity section of the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2001, the entire principal of the note and
accrued interest was outstanding.

17. Employee Benefit Plans

In October 1996, the Board of Directors approved the 1996 Stock Option Plan (the “1996 Plan™). The 1996 Plan
authorized the issuance of up to 166,667 shares of common stock to various employees. The exercise price is
determined by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors and may not be less than 100 percent of the
fair market value of our common stock at the date of grant.

Options to acquire an aggregate of 129,472 shares of common stock under the 1996 Plan at an exercise price of
$7.20 per share were granted to employees during the period from October 1996 through August 1997. The options
generally vest quarterly over a four-year period and have a term of 10 years.

In September 1997, the Board of Directors approved the 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Plan™). The 1997
Plan authorized the issuance of up to 166,667 shares of common stock to various employees. The exercise price is
determined by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors and may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value of our common stock at the date of grant.
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Options to acquire an aggregate of 166,667 shares of common stock under the 1997 Plan at an exercise price of
$18.00 per share were granted to employees during the period from October 1997 through June 1998. The options

generally vest quarterly over a four-year period and have a term of 10 years. \

In September 1998, the Board of Directors approved the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1998 Plan”). The 1998
Plan authorized the issuance of up to 549,410 shares of common stock to various employees. The exercise price is
determined by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors and may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value of our common stock at the date of grant.

AOptions to acquire an aggregate of 269,453 shares of common stock under the 1998 plan at an exercise price of
$27.04 per share were granted to employees during the period from July 1998 through December 1998. The options
generally vest quarterly over a four-year period and have a term of 10 years.

In September 1998, in connection with the approval of the 1998 Plan, the reserve of 166,667 shares authorized
for issuance under the 1997 Plan, together with all outstanding options under the 1997 Plan, were transferred to the
1998 Plan and the 1997 Plan was terminated.

In May 1999, the Board of Directors approved the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan™). The 1999 Plan
authorized the issuance of up to 1,313,289 shares of common stock to various employees. The exercise price is
determined by the Compensation Commiittee of the Board of Directors and may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value of our common stock at the date of grant.

Options to acquire an aggregate of 670,245 shares of common stock under the 1999 Plan at an exercise price
ranging from $36.00 to $157.08 were granted to employees during the period from April through December 1999,
The options generally vest quarterly over a four-year period and have a term of 10 years.

In May 1999, in connection with the approval of the 1999 Plan, a reserve of 1,313,289 was established which
consists of the number of shares estimated to be carried over from the Special Executive Stock Option Plan, 1998
plan, 1997 plan, 1996 plan and director’s plan, which we each rolled into the 1999 Plan, plus an additional increase
of approximately 133,333 shares. The share reserve under the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan will automatically increase
on the first trading day in January each year, beginning with calendar year 2000, by an amount equal to 3.5% of the
_total number of shares of common stock outstanding on the last trading day of December in the prior year, but in no
event will this annual increase exceed 277,778 shares. In addition, no participant in the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan
may be granted stock options or direct stock issuances for more than 55,556 shares of common stock in any calendar
year.

2001 Stock Option Plan

In December 2001, the board of directors approved the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Plan”). The 2001
Plan authorized the issuance of to acquire up to 544,445 shares of common stock to various employees. The exercise
price is determined by the Plan Administrator but may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of our
common stock at the date of grant.

vOptions to acquire an aggregate of 544,445 shares of common stock under the 2001 Plan at an exercise price of
$2.79 were granted to an officer during December 2001. The vesting period of the options is determined by the Plan
Administrator and has a term of 10 years.
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— Stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 is as follows:

. Number of Weighted-average
’ Options Exercise Price
(in thousands)
Qutstanding as of December 31, 1998......cccvmievennencicreeennen 566 $19.84
Granted .....coccoirvieiireenece et se e e 677 73.84
Grants assumed in purchase of CA Tickets.com .....cccceveruneene. 188 4.72
Grants assumed in purchase of Tickets.Live .....coocveecerrennnrnene 73 10.24
EXEICISEA .ouveuenreeerereenrerereeretsissaniaseeseresiesssanneeresesessenusanensnannias (163) 2.88
Cancelled or exXpired.......ccocvevviimieeenececie it (144) 60.40
Qutstanding as of December 31, 1999.....ccccccrvinicrnnernerecrnnns 1,197 $ 44.48
Grants assumed in purchase of CA Tickets.com ........cccoveveneene. 23 4.72
Grants assumed in purchase of TicketsLive ...oeevvveneerrerieenncne 71 10.24
L€ 521 111 SO OO OO PRRN 491 33.68
EXEICISEA cuvreieiierieiiiie vt ettt e st n e b s e sceaessae s reenese s (120) 18.08
Cancelled or €Xpired.......ccceveeeeieiinrerscrrereenie e eeeraeenaeens (494) 52.00
Qutstanding as of December 31, 2000.......cccoviirriirecrevcerennecnnens 1,168 36.32
GIAMEA .ot ee e s bt s e s e s s taessssssatesstssebenesbonons 1,120 3.29
EXETCISEA .vvenvieerecere ettt et ste e saee e eereeeresnreetreeraes (101) 2.76
Cancelled or exXpired....c.cooviniiierieenincnriccciecec e (419 44.37
Outstanding as of December 31, 2001....ccccceviirenirnienccneneicrnenee 1,773 $ 16.65
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31,
2001:
| Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Number Weighted Number

Cutstanding Average Weighted Exercisable Weighted

as of Remaining Average as of Average

December 31, Contractual Exercise December 31, Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices 2001 Life Price 2001 Price

} (in thousands) (in thousands)

$ 1001 - $ 450 . 834 9.90 $ 280 66 $ 288

358 8.17 6.49 137 6.92

45 1.53 11.16 45 1116

179 6.81 18.31 118 18.21

2 8.42 24.00 2 24.00

101 6.72 27.00 70 27.00

97 7.33 49.50 25 49.50

5 737 58.50 3 58.50

95 7.71 72.00 54 72.00

18 7.84 100.08 9 100.08

34 7.86 112.50 15 112.50

1 8.16 117.50 1 117.50

. 4 1.93 157.00 2 157.00

............. 1773 851 $_16.65 247

At December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 the number of options exercisable for each year was 546,539, 479,875,
and 416,750 respectively. The weighted-average exercise price of those options was $25.62, $32.08 and $22.56,
respectively.

For pro forma purposes under SFAS 123 the fair value of each option grant in 2001 is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We have not and do not intend to pay dividends, therefore the
dividend yield remained at 0.0%, volatility rate used was 154.5% and risk-free interest rate of 5.5%, with an
expected life of five years. The fair value of each option grant in 2000 was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. We have not and do not intend to pay dividends, therefore the dividend yield
remained at 0.0%, volatility rate used was 156.0% and risk-free interest rate of 5.4%, with an expected life of five
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years. Because we were public only a short time, in 1999, volatility was calculated using a similar company in the
same industry. The calculated volatility rate used was §3.9%. Because employee behavior was expected to change
dramatically when the shares owned by employees were available to trade on the open market. Therefore, we
modified the assumption used in the model for options issued in 1999 to a cliff vesting approach with holding
periods from 6 months to 2 years. For options granted prior to 1999 which would have vested prior to our IPO date
weighted-average assumptions used are: a dividend yield of 0.0%; expected volatility of 0.0%; risk-free interest rate
of 6.2% for 1998 and 6.4% for 1997 and expected lives of five years. Because we completed an IPO in 1999, the
weighted average assumptions used in the Black Scholes option pricing model were modified on a prospective basis.

The pro forma effect of adopting the measurement principles prescribed under SFAS No. 123 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Net loss available to common shareholders (as reported)........ $ (57,182) $ (105,729) $ (66,600)
Pro forma net loss available to common shareholders............. (58,358) (116,392) (72,748)
Basic and diluted EPS (as reported) .ooovveevevvecevevvenvevnennnn. (7.70) (14.43) (28.36)
Pro forma basic and diluted EPS ....cocoovvieiviiieiecceereee e (7.86) (15.89) (30.98)

Pro forma results of operations costs may not be representative of that to be expected in future years.
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan was approved by stockholders in October 1999 and became effective
on November 3, 1999. The plan is designed to allow eligible employees (and eligible employees of our subsidiaries)
to purchase shares of common stock at semi-annual intervals, with their accumulated payroll deductions.

Initially, 83,333 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance. This reserve will automatically
increase on the first trading day in January each year, beginning in calendar year 2000 by an amount equal to 1.0%
of the total outstanding shares of its common stock on the last trading day in December of the prior year. In no event
will the annual increase exceed 83,333 shares.

Employees who work more than 20-hours per week for more than five calendar months per year are eligible. The
plan consists of a series of 2-year offering periods. Purchases occur on the last business day of January and July.
Eligible employees may enter the offering at the commencement of any new 6-month purchase period.

A participant may contribute up to 10% of cash earnings through payroll deductions. The price paid is equal to
85% of the fair value per share on the participant’s entry date into the offering period or, if lower, 85% of the fair
market value on the purchase date. On any purchase date, the maximum shares that may be purchased by an
employee is 67 shares and no more than 33,333 shares may be purchased in total by all participants. The plan
terminates no later than the last business day of July 2009.

401(k) Plan
We maintain a defined contribution benefit plan (the “401(k) Plan”) covering substantially all of our employees.

Company contributions to the 401(k) Plan are voluntary and at the discretion of the Company. There were no
matching Company contributions for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001.

18. Subsequent Event

On March 25, 2002, we sold 8,474,576 shares of our Series G Senior Cumulative Redeemable Convertible
Participating Preferred Stock (the “Series G Preferred Stock™). We also sold warrants (the “Warrants™) that are
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immediately exercisable to purchase 1,800,000 shares of our Common Stock. We received an aggregate purchase
price of $20.0 million for the sale of the Series G Preferred Stock and the Warrants. The purchasers of the Series G
Preferred Stock were General Atlantic Partners 74, L.P., GAP Coinvestment Partners II, L.P., and GapStar, LLC. On
March 18, 2002, we filed a Form 8-K describing the transaction and the terms of the Series G Preferred Stock.

The Series G Preferred Stock ranks senior to our Common Stock and the Series F Preferred Stock. If we pay
dividends on our Common Stock then the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock will receive such dividends as if
their shares of Series G Preferred Stock were converted into Common Stock. In addition, we will pay cumulative
dividends on the Series G Preferred Stock at a rate of nine percent per year of the Series G Accreted Value (as
defined below), minus any cash dividends paid to the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock because of a dividend
paid on the Common Stock as described in the second sentence of this paragraph. The cumulative dividends will
accrue and compound quarterly whether or not declared by our Board of Directors. “Series G Accreted Value”
means $2.36 plus the amount of any accrued dividends.

Each share of Series G Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock
into shares of Common Stock at a conversion ratio equal to the Series G Accreted Value divided by $2.36, subject to
antidilution adjustments as described below (the “Series G Conversion Price™). In addition, if the holders of the
Series G Preferred Stock convert the Series G Preferred Stock after March 25, 2004, such holders will receive an
additional amount equal to the Series G Liquidation Payment (as defined below) for each shares of Series G
Preferred Stock converted, payable at the election of a majority of the holders of the Series G Preferred Stock in
either cash or shares of Common Stock. This additional amount is payable only with respect to a maximum of
2,824,858 shares if converted prior to March 25, 2005 and a maximum of 5,649,717 shares if converted prior to
March 25, 2006.

On March 25, 2007, we will automatically redeem all of the shares of Series G Preferred Stock in cash, at a
redemption price per share equal to the greater of the Series G Liquidation Payment (as defined below) calculated on
such date or the average trading price of one share of our Common Stock on each of the twenty consecutive trading
days ending on and including the trading day prior to such date.

In the event of a merger or consolidation of us or a sale of our voting stock or our assets or our liquidation,
dissolution or winding up, each holder of Series G Preferred Stock will be entitled to the following: (1) to be paid
for each share of Series G Preferred Stock an amount equal to the Participation Factor (as hereinafter defined) times
the Series G Accreted Value at the time of such event (such product, the “Series G Liquidation Payment”), and (2)
to receive the number of shares of our Common Stock to which such share of Series G Preferred Stock is convertible
upon the closing of such event. “Participation Factor” means two, but will be reduced to one in the case of a merger
or sale if the Participation Reduction Amount (as hereinafter defined) is greater than two times the Series G
Conversion Price. “Participation Reduction Amount” means a fraction, (A) the numerator of which is the aggregate
consideration paid to the holders of our capital stock in such sale or merger minus the aggregate Series G Accreted
Value on the closing date of such sale or merger minus the amount of the Series F Participation Payment and (B) the
denominator of which is the aggregate number of outstanding shares of Common Stock assuming the conversion of
the Series G Preferred Stock, the Series F Preferred Stock and all other securities convertible into shares of Common
Stock immediately prior to the closing date of such sale or merger.

The holders of the Series G Preferred Stock have the right to vote, on an as converted basis, on all matters that
require a vote of the Common Stock. In addition, certain actions require the approval of the holders of a majority of
the outstanding Series G Preferred Stock.

The holders of the Series G Preferred Stock are entitled to customary antidilution rights including, adjustments
for stock splits, stock dividends and other structural changes. In addition, if we issue Common Stock (or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock) at a price per share (“New Issue Price™) less than the Series G
Conversion Price then in effect, the Series G Conversion Price shall be adjusted to equal the New Issue Price.

F-30




TICKETS.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2001 and 2000

19. Quarterly Information for 2001 and 2000 (Unaudited)

2001
March 31, June 30, September 36 December 31,
. (in thousands, except per share data)

REVENUES vooivvveceereveeieitisesresetetessressnseresstsssseantssressanessraesnnn $ 14938 $ 16,926 $ 14,579 $ 9,688
COSt O SETVICES .vviverererieiririerirerceerireseseeteseesra s ssareseneas 9.699 _8.955 7.286 6.196
GIOSS PIOfit..cceciuercirrereriiniiseeccrenreseecrresesr e seeeeeseesaasssenrens 5,239 7971 7,293 3,492
OPDErating EXPeMSES.....cvverurerriererererseressssesnsssrerssroresersasesnerens 33,359 17,197 16,410 13,946
L08s from OPerations ....cccocvvrireieerienienseesininiierene s eressvenans (28,120) (9,226) ©.117) (10,454)
Other income (EXPENSE) (B) .iovereiererereeveesiensorisieiirertennesenorens 129 28 227 193
INEL L08S cvvvereeerrinreirrenrienteecrecreiisesssessneessesserenssensressreessenssnenes (27,9%1) (9,198) (8,890) (10,261)
Preferred dividends........ceevveervinreeeiecnreverennivnersrsreesisesaesrennns — — (315) (390)
Accretion Of 1SSUANCE COSES wvevvivrerrerrierviererersevnscaereesseeresvasenes o — — 137
Net 10ss available 10 cocvvvrevrerccniiererenneenieeesinnrescessnnereserenas
common StOCKNOIAErS....cccvererereiiieriiiienrescrrveerte s e eeenns $(27991) § (9,198) $§ (9205 $ (10.788)
Basic and diluted net 1oss per share......c.cc.ieverieverirerennenens $ (37 s (29 $ (129 $__(1.45)
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic

and I c.veviirvveveee et 7.419 1424 7.425 7.426

2000
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31
(in thousands, except per share data)

REVEIIUES ...oovvereierivirerirneerreseiseersessostesseesesetssssosesssesinsnessnes $ 14,072 $ 14,759 $ 14,545 $ 15,294
COSt Of SEIVICES .vevvvererririererrinieireseeessensssrersnesersistssnareneares 10,404 9,685 9,153 8.409
GTOSS PrOfiteciseecsiiivreerereisieececneesirreesisstnsnerererssssenesnnes 3,668 5,074 5,392 6,885
Operating eXpenSeS.....cuevviiiererinrirricrersestorsensnneesesienssenees 26,292 60.489 21,163 20,959
Loss from Operations .....c..cvieerceenersicnieseesinsesseesecnnneneesens (22,624) (55,415) (15,771) (14,074)
Cther income (€XPENnSe) (8) evvvrererrecersrerersrerrvinerersisrenesses (988) (522) (397 (248)
NEL108S 1 iuerereriiiereeeicrire et sre st snrere st b e rees $ (21.636) $ (54.893) $ (15374 $ (13.826)
Basic and diluted net loss per share.........ccoccvnincnivrercnnns $ (300 $§ (753 § (208 $ (.87
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic

ANd QIULEd 1eeoververereererereineeee et e sass e sssssa s sessenes 1215 1,292 1,393 7.410

(a) Other income (expense) include principally interest expense, net of interest income, and to a lesser degree,
minority interest and provision for income taxes.
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TICKETS.COM, INC.

SCHEDULE I — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

December 31, 2001
For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Beginning Balance ......ocoovveevernininnnnnicenesccest e $ (1,996) $ (439 $ (255)
Additions:
Charged to costs and EXPENSES ...ccoovervuecverrmreriieriisrerinesercsenneen (2,566) (1,823) (150)
Charged {0 other aCCOUNLS ..o.icvvviriiiiiiirs s —_— — (275)
Deductions/ WIte-0ffS ......coviveriiciirerirces ettt et eene e 2,738 266 241
Ending Balance.........ccccvieeeevnniniineen s $ (1.824) $ (1.996) $ (439)
Restructuring Reserve: .
Beginning Balance..........cocouvvvvenrinennrisineeneieneniseecens $ (3.657) $ — $ —
Additions:
Charged to costs and €XPenses .....c..ccvvvevnririeiicrnnesnnnennenns 2,669 (35,124) —
Charged to Other aCCOUNLS ....ccccceeriiererereririreieecicrerceree e aeaes — — —_
Deductions/Write-0ffS c....coueevirviieeeiintieninn et cnreeesineseeresereeeas 988 31,467 ——
Ending Balance..........ccccevveeierieniininreniinteneriectsesee e h) — 3 (3.657) h—
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34
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4.1
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4.3%
4.4

4.5
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47
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4.9

4.10

10.1

10.2*

10.3

10.4

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999
(File No. 333-79709)).

Certificate of Designation of Series F Senior Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 23, 2001).

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2001).

Certificate of Designation of Series G Senior Cumulative Redeemable Convertible Participating

Preferred Stock of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed March 18, 2002).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.

Specimen certificate representing shares of common stock of the Company (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3,
1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

Specimen Certificate representing shares of Series F Preferred Stock of the Company.
Specimen Certificate representing shares of Series G Preferred Stock of the Company.

Letter Agreement related to purchase of 9% Senior Promissory Note (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 29, 2002).

9% Senior Promissory Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed March 29, 2002).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant,

Registration Rights Agreement among the Company and the stockholders named therein, dated June 21,
2001, and Amendment No. 1 thereto dated August 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 22, 2001 and Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 3, 2001, respectively).

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement among the Company and the stockholders
named therein, dated March 15, 2002.

Stock Purchase Agreement for Series F Preferred Stock among the Company and the stockholders
named therein, dated May 1, 2001, Amendment No. 1 thereto dated June 21, 2001 and Amendment No.
2 thereto dated June 21, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 22, 2001).

Stock Purchase Agreement for Series G Preferred Stock among the Company and the stockholders
named therein, dated March 14, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 18, 2002).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of the Directors and Officers of
the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2000).

1999 Stock Incentive Plan, Amended and Restated as of December 17, 2001, together with form of
Stock Option Agreement (and related Notice of Exercise of Option), Stock Issuance Agreement and
Notice of Grant of Option.

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

1998 Stock Incentive Plan, together with form of Stock Option Agreement, Stock Purchase Agreement
and Stock Issuance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).




Exhibit
Number

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9*
10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13%

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19%

Description
1997 Stock Option Plan (California and Other Employees), together with form of Nonstatutory Stock
Option Agreement (and related Notice of Exercise of Nonstatutory Stock Option), Incentive Stock
Option Agreement (and related Notice of Exercise of Incentive Stock QOption), Stock Purchase
Agreement and Stock Issuance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

1997 Non-Employee Director’'s Option Plan, together with form of Stock Option Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

1996 Stock Option Plan, together with form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement (and related
Notice of Exercise of Nonstatutory Stock Option), Incentive Stock Option Agreement (and related
Notice of Exercise of Incentive Stock Option), Stock Purchase Agreement and Stock Issuance
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

Fifth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement among the Company and the stockholders
named therein, dated August 4, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

2001 Stock Option Plan, together with form of Stock Option Agreement.

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization by and among the Company, Advantix Acquisition
Corp., Tickets.com, Inc. (n/k/a California Tickets.com, Inc.) and certain of its stockholders dated as of
January 26, 1999 ((incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization by and among the Company, Advantix Acquisition
II Corp., TicketsLive Corporation, and certain of its stockholders dated as of March 18, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

Special Executive Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

Stock Purchase Agreement by and among the Company, Bay Area Seating Service, Inc. and certain of
its shareholders effective as of September 18, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No, 333-
79709)).

Agreement by and between the Company and RBB Bank AG dated as of January 24, 1999, as amended
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

Employment Agreement between W. Thomas Gimple and the Company effective as of April 29, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

Employment Agreement between Eric P. Bauer and the Company dated as of September 5, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000).

Employment Agreement between Mardan Afrasiabi and the Company dated as of November 22, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000).

Employment Agreement between Andrew Donkin and the Company dated as of April 24, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000).

Employment Agreement between Ronald Bension and the Company dated as of December 18, 2001.
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10.207 Commercial Application Partner Agreement by and between the Company, Advantix (Chio), Inc., Bay
Area Seating Service, Inc. and Sybase, Inc. dated as of April 6, 1998 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3,
1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.21  Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Company, Advantix Acquisition Corp. and Lasergate
Systems, Inc. dated as of June 21, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.22  Agreement dated as April 7, 2000, Termination and Release Agreement with Thomas R. Pascoe and the
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2000).

10.23  Letter Agreement dated as of May 28, 1999 between the Company and General Atlantic Partners
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.24  Asset Purchase Agreement between Tickets.com, Inc., Car-Gottstein Foods Co., and Safeway Inc.,
dated April 20, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).

10.25  Lease Agreement between Sierra Pacific Properties, Inc. and Bay Area Seating Service, Inc. dated
December 29, 1989, and amendments thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-
79709)).

.10.26  Lease Agreement by and between ProTix, Inc. and Guinea Road Associates dated January 30, 1995
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.27 Lease Agreement by and between Advantix (Chio), Inc. and Playhouse Square Foundation dated
October 1, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.28  Warrant Issuance Agreement dated as of August 5, 1999 by and among the Company and the persons
named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.29  Lease Agreement between the Company and AGL Investments No. 5 Limited Partnership dated July
23, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.301 Content and Distribution Agreement between the Company and Cox Interactive Media, Inc. dated as of
August 4, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

10.31* Pledge Agreement between Ronald Bension and the Company dated as of December 18, 2001.

10.32* Promissory Note between Ronald Bension and the Company.

10.33* Separation and Consulting Agreement between Tom Gimple and the Company dated as of March 31,
2002.

21.1 List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 declared effective November 3, 1999 (File No. 333-79709)).

23.1*  Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.
99.1*  Letter Responsive to Temporary Note 3T.

*  This exhibit is filed herewith.
7 Confidential treatment has been granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to portions of

this exhibit. Such portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.
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Tickets.com, Inc.

555 Anton Boulevard
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Web Address: www.tickets.com
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The Annual Meeting of
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intends to retain its future
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